facilitates access to capital markets, and thus helps develop financial markets and spur econom-
ic growth. With this in mind, the International Finance Corporation and the U.S. Department
of Commerce have combined their efforts to provide Russian managers, directors, and share-
holders with a practical tool to implement good corporate governance practices — the Russia
Corporate Governance Manual. This Manual refers to and is based on the principal laws and
regulations that apply to open joint stock companies. It follows the recommendations of the
FCSM'’s Code of Corporate Conduct and refers to internationally accepted principles of good
corporate governance.

“Corporate governance is vital to the interests of every economy, and government has a role
to play in establishing the framework for reform - but it is companies that have the tough job
of putting governance reform into practice. This is where the Corporate Governance Manual
can provide excellent help. It offers a comprehensive workbook for company directors, offic-
ers, and advisers in taking up the challenge of corporate governance improvement. Share-
holders and stakeholders alike should applaud IFC for bringing practical, and professional
advice within reach of every boardroom.”

“Corporate governance reform in Russia is the continuation of the more general processes of
change affecting the country as a whole. Taken together, these developments have created a
new environment, new rules regulating the relationships between the market and regulators,
between shareholders, shareholders and managers, etc. In the business community there is
agrowing awareness of the benefits of corporate governance reform, and companies are now
working on improving the quality of their corporate governance....”

“Good corporate governance is a key driver of financial transparency and managerial ac-
countability, essential ingredients for national prosperity in a global economy. We con-
gratulate the U.S. Department of Commerce and the International Financial Corporation of
the World Bank for their initiative in bringing about the publication of the Russia Corporate
Governance Manual.”

American Chamber of Commerce in Russia

Questions on corporate governance An electronic version of the Manual
should be addressed to the is available on the website of the
IFC Russia Corporate Governance Project, via International Finance Corporation under

CGPRussia@ifc.org www.ifc.org/rcgp
and the

U.S. Department of Commerce under

www.mac.doc.gov/ggp
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IMPORTANT NOTICE

The model documents contained in the following Annexes are intended to guide
a company in drafting and/or amending its internal documents to meet good
corporate governance standards. These documents meet the requirements set forth
in Russian law, recommendations proposed in the Federal Commission for the
Securities Market’s Code of Corporate Conduct (FCSM Code), and internation-
ally recognized best practices utilized by specific companies at the time of this
Manual’s publication.

These documents have been developed for companies with the following char-
acteristics:

* The company is an open joint stock companys;

* The company has subsidiaries;

+ State ownership does not exceed 25% of the charter capital, and golden share
arrangements do not exist;

* The company has more than 50 shareholders;

* The company has a Supervisory Board;

* The Supervisory Board has the right to increase the charter capital by issuing
authorized shares;

* The company has a Revision Commission;

* The company has a General Director and an Executive Board;

» The External Registrar responsible for maintaining the shareholder register
is a specialized organization, which is also responsible for carrying out the
functions of the Counting Commission;

* Supervisory Board members are elected by cumulative voting;

» Shareholder(s) holding not less than 2% of voting shares may call a Super-
visory Board meeting;

* The procedures for preparing and conducting the General Meeting of Share-
holders (GMS) are regulated in the by-law for the GMS;

* The company has a Corporate Secretary; and

* The company has created Supervisory Board committees, specifically the
Audit Committee, Corporate Governance Committee, Nominations and
Remuneration Committee, and Strategic Planning and Finance Committee.

Other companies, irrespective of their legal form, size (in terms of turnover,
assets, employees, and/or shareholders), ownership structure, and public listing, may
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benefit from making use of these model documents. However, they should care-
fully choose and/or adapt the documents to meet their specific needs, and are best
advised to carefully consider the costs versus the benefits of implementing spe-
cific corporate governance structures. In any event, the model documents contained
in these Annexes should not be adopted on a wholesale basis, but rather tailored
to meet the specific characteristics of each company.

These model documents may be used separately and independently from one
another, although many of the provisions contained in different documents are
interrelated.

Developing the company’s governance structure goes beyond words on paper.
The company’s management and/or Supervisory Board will be well served to
assess the need for specific corporate governance structures and processes before
drafting and/or amending specific internal documents. The authors recommend
that these model documents be used in conjunction with the Manual that has
been jointly prepared by the IFC Russia Corporate Governance Project and the
U.S. Department of Commerce. Moreover, the company will benefit from cor-
porate training sessions to ensure that the structures and processes contained in
these Annexes are understood by the governing bodies and properly implemented
in practice.

Finally, these model documents must not be used without, or viewed as a
substitute for, professional legal or any other advice that one would normally use
in preparing internal company documents.
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Article 1. General Provisions

1.1, « », an Open Joint Stock Company (hereinafter the
Company), was established pursuant to the decision of
[enter the name of the governing body that approved the decision] dated
as of [enter date].

1.2.  The Company shall be governed by the present charter (hereinafter the
Charter) and any applicable provisions of the Civil Code of the Russian
Federation, the Federal Law on Joint Stock Companies, the Federal Law on
the Securities Market, and other legislation of the Russian Federation, as
well as any other legal acts and regulations adopted pursuant thereto (here-
inafter the Law). The Charter also takes into account the recommendations
of the Russian Code of Corporate Conduct as developed by the Federal
Commission for the Securities Market (hereinafter the FCSM Code).

1.3. The duration of the Company shall be unlimited unless reorganized or
liquidated pursuant to the Charter and the Law.

10
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Article 2. The Name and Location of the Company

2.1.  The full registered name of the Company is:

2.1.1.  OTKpBITOE aKIHOHEPHOE OOIIECTBO « » (in
Cyrillic letters);

2.1.2. Open Joint Stock Company « » (in Latin
letters).

2.2.  The abbreviated registered name of the Company is:

2.2.1.  OAO « » (in Cyrillic letters);
2.2.2.  OJSC « » (in Latin letters).
2.3.  The Company’s location and postal address is , the Rus-

sian Federation, being the location where the Company is registered and
where the General Director is located. The Company shall notify the com-
petent registration authorities of its postal address and any changes thereto
in the established manner.

2.4. The Company has a branch [or a representative office] in the following
location in the Russian Federation [and abroad] R

Article 3. The Purpose and Activities of the Company

3.1. The principal purpose of the Company shall be
in order to earn profits.

3.2.  The Company may engage in the following activities with the aim of ac-
complishing its principal purposes as set forth in Article 3.1. above, while
operating within the parameters set forth in the Law and subject to obtain-
ing all necessary licenses or permits:

3.2.1. Conduct all activities related to ;

3.2.2. 5
3.2.3. 5
3.2.4. ; and

Law on Joint Stock Companies (LJSC), Article 5, Clause 6, provides that information about
a company’s branches and representative offices must be included in the charter. If the
Company does not have branches and/or representative offices, the charter may include
a provision that no branches and representative offices have been established.

11
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3.2.5. Carry out any and all other activities not prohibited by the Charter
or the Law within the Russian Federation or beyond its borders for
the accomplishment of the Company’s purposes.

Article 4. Charter Capital, Securities, and Funds of the Company

4.1.  The charter capital of the Company (hereinafter the Charter Capital) shall
consist of the nominal value of all shares issued to shareholder(s) and
amounts to [in digits] ( ) [in words]
Rubles, being the equivalent of [in digits] (

) [in words] U.S. dollars [alternatively, in Euros] at the official exchange
rate of the Central Bank of the Russian Federation on the date of the state
registration of the Company’s Charter.?

4.2.  All shares of the Company are registered shares. The Charter Capital is
divided into [in digits] ( ) [in words] shares of
common stock, each share having a nominal value of [in digits]
( ) [in words] Rubles, and [in digits] ( )
[in words] shares of preferred stock of class A, each share having a nomi-
nal value of [in digits] ( ) [in words] Rubles, and ___

[in digits] ( ) [in words] shares of preferred stock of
class B, each share having a nominal value of [in digits] (____

) [in words] Rubles, the total value of which comprises one hundred
percent (100%) of the Charter Capital.

4.3. In addition to the aforementioned issued shares, the Company shall be
authorized to issue [in digits] ( ) [in words] addi-
tional shares of common stock having a nominal value of [in
digits] ( ) [in words] Rubles per share,’ [in digits]
( ) [in words] shares of preferred stock of class A, each share
having a nominal value of [in digits] ( ) [in words]
Rubles, and [in digits] ( ) [in words] shares of

This is recommended in cases where the company’s charter includes assets denominated in
foreign currency.

* LJSC, Article 27, Clause 1. This provision is optional. However, the company may wish
to include such a provision in the charter to ease its ability to increase the charter capital,
which is only possible within the limits of the authorized charter capital and authorized
shares.

@ 17.09.2004 11:24:03



®

Annex 2. A Model Company Charter

preferred stock of class B, each share having a nominal value of
[in digits] ( ) [in words] Rubles (the “Authorized Common
Shares” [and “Authorized Preferred Shares”, respectively]) granting the same
rights as issued shares, by decision of the [General Meeting of Shareholders
(hereinafter the GMS) < or > Supervisory Board].*

4.4.  Once the initial Charter Capital has been paid in full:

4.4.1. The Company is authorized to issue options for the acquisition of
shares of the Company.’ If the Company issues options to acquire
shares, the number of authorized shares cannot be less than the
number of shares that can be acquired if the options are exercised.
The Company may issue options to acquire shares of a specific type
and class if the number of shares included in such options does not
exceed 5% of the placed shares of that type and class;

4.4.2. The Company shall be authorized to increase its Charter Capital by
decision of the GMS® or the Supervisory Board either by:

4.4.2.1. Increasing the nominal value of the Company’s issued
shares; or

4.4.2.2. Issuing additional shares in one or more installments,
however, subject to the limitations contained in the Char-
ter regarding the total number of Authorized Shares [and
Authorized Preferred Shares], and with a corresponding
amendment of the Charter.”

LJSC, Article 27, Clause 1. This provision is optional. However, the company may wish to
include such a provision in the charter to make it easier to increase the charter capital, which
is only possible within the limits of the authorized charter capital and authorized shares.

Law on the Securities Market, Article 27.1. The regulation of stock options is a novelty in

Russian practice. For this reason, the charter provides guidance on how it can be reflected

in the Charter.

¢ LJSC, Article 28, Clause 2; Article 48, Clause 1, Section 6. This provision is optional. The
authority to increase the charter capital may be delegated to the Supervisory Board by the
charter or by decision of the GMS (LJSC, Article 12, Clause 2; Article 28, Clause 2). The
Supervisory Board may increase the charter capital only by issuing authorized shares.

7 LJSC, Article 27. Note the requirement of LJSC, Article 27, Clause 2 that, in the case of issuing

convertible securities, the number of authorized shares of the specific type and class may not be less

than the number of shares needed for conversion. The GMS may also increase the number of

authorized shares and issue these shares at the same time. Note that there are anti-dilution rules

where the state holds 25% of shares (LJSC, Article 28, Clause 6).

13
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4.5.  The Charter Capital may be decreased by decision of the GMS either by
decreasing the nominal value of shares or by purchasing a portion of
shares for the purpose of reducing the total number of outstanding
shares.

4.6. Payment for the shares so purchased may be made in cash, securities, assets
or property rights, or other rights having monetary value.

4.7. The value of any subsequent contributions in-kind to the Charter
Capital shall be determined by the Supervisory Board in accordance
with the Law. In cases of in-kind contributions to the Charter Capital,
their valuation shall be based on an appraisal by an Independent Ap-

praiser.

4.8. The Company must establish a reserve fund in the amount of
[in digits] ( ) [in words] percent of the Charter Capi-
tal.®

4.9. Annual deductions from the net profits of the Company to be transferred
to the reserve fund shall be [in digits] ( ) [in words]

percent of the net profits until the reserve fund reaches the amount stipu-
lated by Article 4.8 hereof.’

Article 5. Rights and Obligations of Shareholders and Dividends

5.1. Each common share shall entitle its owner to equal rights. Each com-
mon share grants its owner one vote at the GMS on all matters,'* and
the right to receive dividends and a portion of the Company’s assets
in the event of the Company’s liquidation.

5.2.  Preferred shares of the same class possess the same rights and have the
same nominal value. Preferred shares have no voting rights at the GMS
unless otherwise provided for by the Law.

8 LJSC, Article 35, Clause 1 provides that the reserve fund may not be less than 5% of the
charter capital. In addition, the company may establish other funds that are not required by
legislation.

? LJSC, Article 35, Clause 1 provides that the annual deductions from the net profits of the
company to the reserve fund may not be less than 5% of the net profits.

' The exception to the principle of one share-one vote is cumulative voting.

14
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5.2.1.  Class A preferred shares'! entitle their owners, relative to the own-
ers of common shares and other classes of preferred shares, with
first priority for receiving dividends and receiving the liquidation
value of shares belonging to them.'

5.2.2.  The dividend on each preferred share of class A is [in digits]
( ) [in words] Rubles per year, payable annually no later
than [in digits] ( ) [in words] days after the date

of the GMS."

5.2.3.  Any unpaid dividends or dividends not fully paid on class A pre-
ferred shares shall accumulate and be paid once the decision to pay
dividends on shares of class A is made.

5.2.4. The liquidation value of each class A preferred share is [in
digits] ( )[in words] Rubles.™
5.2.5. Each class A preferred share entitles its owner to [in digits]

( ) [in words] votes on all issues on which class A pre-
ferred shares provide the right to vote.

5.2.6. Class B preferred shares' grant their owners second priority for
receiving payments for dividends and receiving the liquidation
value of shares belonging to them, that is, they receive such pay-
ments only after the payment of dividends on class A preferred

Class A preferred shares in this case are cumulative preferred shares. LJSC, Article 32, Clause
3 provides that the charter may have a provision for the conversion of preferred shares of a
specific class into common shares or preferred shares of another class. If this is provided,
the charter must specify the procedure for conversion, in particular, the number, type, and
class of the shares into which they are converted and other conversion terms. It is prohibited
to amend the said provisions of the charter after the decision is made to float converted
preferred shares.

These are only some of the preferences that can be provided for preferred shares. The charter
may provide other or additional preferences for preferred shares.

The charter may provide other ways of determining the amount of dividends to be paid on
preferred shares of each class, for example, a percentage of net profits. The period between
declaration and the actual payment of dividends shall not exceed 60 days as recommended
by the Federal Commission for the Securities Market’s Code of Corporate Conduct (FCSM
Code), Chapter 9, Section 2.1.3.

The charter may provide other ways of determining the liquidation value to be paid on preferred
shares of each class. For example, the percentage of assets left after the satisfaction of claims
of creditors can be distributed equally between the owners of class A preferred shares.

Class B preferred shares in this case are non-cumulative preferred shares.

15
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shares and payment of the liquidation value of class A preferred
shares has been completed.

5.2.7.  The dividend on each preferred share of class Bis __ [in digits]
( ) [in words] Rubles per year, payable annually no
later than [in digits] ( ) [in words] days after the
date of the GMS.!®

5.2.8. The liquidation value of each class B preferred share is ____ [in
digits] ( ) [in words] Rubles.

5.2.9. Each class B preferred shares entitles its owner to [in digits]

( ) [in words] votes on all issues on which class B
preferred shares provide the right to vote.

5.3.  Shareholders shall have such other rights and obligations as established by
the Charter and the Law."”

5.4. The Company has the right to declare and pay dividends on common shares
based on the results of each quarter and/or the results of the fiscal year.
The Company shall pay declared dividends within [in digits]
( ) [in words] days after the decision to declare dividends has
been approved.'

5.5. Dividends shall be paid in money."

5.6. The failure to pay declared dividends or the incomplete payment of divi-
dends may be a ground for the Supervisory Board to reduce the remu-
neration of the General Director.?’

¢ LJSC, Article 32, Clause 2 provides that if the date for accumulating and paying dividends
against preferred shares of a specified class is not specified by the charter, preferred shares
of that class are not deemed to be cumulative.

17 Shareholders have obligations with regard to the rules on related party transactions (LJSC,
Articles 81-84), the disclosure of their affiliation with the company (LJSC, Article 93), and
confidentiality (Civil Code, Article 67, 139).

18 LJSC, Article 42, Clause 4. The charter may specify the period during which declared dividends
shall be paid. If that period is not specified, the Company Law requires that declared dividends
be paid no later than 60 days from the date of approval. FCSM Code, Chapter 9, Section 2.1.3
recommends that in no case should the period for payment of declared dividends exceed
60 days.

19" LJSC, Article 42, Clause 1 provides that the charter may specify circumstances when dividends
are paid in kind. FCSM Code, Chapter 9, Section 2.1.4. recommends that dividends be paid
in cash.

2 FCSM Code, Chapter 9, Section 3.

16

IFC part 6.indd 16 @ 17.09.2004 11:24:04



®

Annex 2. A Model Company Charter

Article 6. The Governing Bodies of the Company

6.1. The Company shall have the following governing bodies:

6.1.1. The GMS;

6.1.2.  The Supervisory Board;
6.1.3. The General Director; and
6.1.4. The Executive Board.

Article 7. The General Meeting of Shareholders

7.1. The GMS is the highest governing body of the Company.

7.2.  The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders (hereinafter the AGM) must
be held annually on the following date: [insert a date between March
1 and June 30].

7.3.  All GMS other than the AGM shall be Extraordinary General Meetings of
Shareholders (hereinafter the EGM).

7.4.  The GMS shall be valid if a quorum is present.?!

7.5.  The detailed procedures for preparing and conducting the GMS are specified
by the Law, the Charter, and by-laws of the Company.

7.6.  The AGM shall be held in the Russian Federation in the place where the
Company is located or at another location if so specified in the by-laws of
the Company or by the Supervisory Board.

7.7. The following issues fall within the authority of the GMS and shall be de-
cided upon by a simple majority vote of shareholders participating in the
GMS:

7.7.1.  An increase in the Charter Capital by increasing the nominal value
of placed shares;

7.7.2.  An increase in the Charter Capital by issuing additional common
and preferred shares through open subscription;

2 LJSC, Article 58, Clause 1 defines a quorum for the original and any reconvened GMS. In

companies with more than 500 thousand shareholders, the charter may specify a lower
quorum for the reconvened GMS. FCSM Code, Chapter 2, Section 2.3 recommends that
the quorum for any reconvened GMS in large companies be not less than 20% of voting
shares.

17
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7.7.3. A reduction of the Charter Capital by decreasing the nominal
value of issued shares;

7.7.4. A reduction of the Charter Capital by reducing the number of is-
sued shares by retiring purchased or redeemed shares;

7.7.5.  Splitting and consolidating shares;

7.7.6.  The election and dismissal of Supervisory Board members;*

7.7.7.  Setting the number of Supervisory Board members;*

7.7.8.  The approval of the remuneration for Supervisory Board members;

7.7.9.  The delegation of the authority of the General Director to an Ex-
ternal Manager;

7.7.10. The election and dismissal of Revision Commission members;

7.7.11. The approval of the terms of compensation and remuneration for
Revision Commission members;

7.7.12. The approval of the annual reports, annual financial statements,
including balance sheet, profit and loss statements, statement of
cash-flows, and notes to the financial statements, as well as the
distribution of profits and losses based on the results of the fis-
cal year;

7.7.13. The declaration and payment of dividends based on the results of
each quarter and/or the results of the fiscal year;

7.7.14. The election of the External Auditor;

7.7.15. Establishing procedures for conducting the GMS;*

7.7.16. The election and dismissal of Counting Commission members;*

LJSC, Article 66, Clause 4, Paragraph 13, states that directors who are elected with cumulative
voting do not necessarily require a simple majority of votes to be elected. The candidates
who receive the most votes are elected, which can be fewer than a simple majority of
votes.

LJSC, Article 66, Clause 3, Paragraph 1. The number of directors can be determined either
by the charter (see Article 8.2 of the Charter) or decision of the GMS.

It is advisable to specify the procedures for conducting the GMS in the company’s by-laws.
LJSC, Article 49, Clause 5 provides that either the charter or by-laws of the company may
establish the procedures for decision-making on the issue.

» 1JSC, Article 56, Clause 1, Paragraph 2. If the company has more than 500 shareholders with
voting rights, the functions of the Counting Commission shall be performed by the External
Registrar of the company. In companies with fewer shareholders with voting rights, the
External Registrar could be assigned the functions of the Counting Commission.

18
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7.8.

IFC_part_6.indd 19

7.7.17.
7.7.18.

7.7.19.
7.7.20.

7.7.21.

7.7.22.

7.7.23.

7.7.24.

7.7.25.

7.7.26.

Designating the number of Counting Commission members;

The approval of internal documents that regulate the activities of
the Company’s governing bodies (the Supervisory Board, the Gen-
eral Director, and the Executive Board);

The approval of the by-law for the Revision Commission;

The approval of the reimbursement of expenses for preparing and
conducting an EGM if convened by parties other than the Super-
visory Board;

The approval of extraordinary transactions that are subject to the ap-
proval of the Supervisory Board in cases where the Supervisory Board
failed to unanimously approve the transaction and transferred the
authority for its approval to the GMS;

The approval of related party transactions in cases specified by the
Law on Joint Stock Companies;

A waiver of the obligation of the controlling shareholders to make
a buy-out offer during control transactions;*

Determine the list of additional documents that must be kept by
the Company;

Authorization for the Company to participate in holding companies,
financial and industrial groups, and any associations or other unions
of commercial entities; and

Requesting an extraordinary inspection of the financial and
economic activities of the Company by the Revision Commis-
sion.

A decision of the GMS on the following issues shall be adopted if a three-
fourths majority vote of shareholders participating in the GMS is

reached:

7.8.1.
7.8.2.

26

Amending the Charter or approving a new version of the Charter;
The reorganization of the Companys;

LJSC, Article 80 provides for a waiver of the right to acquire shares in a company with more

than 1,000 shareholders in case of acquisition of 30% or more of the company’s common

shares.

19
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7.8.3.  The liquidation of the Company and the appointment of the Lig-
uidation Commission;

7.8.4.  The approval of the interim and final liquidation balance sheets;

7.8.5.  The determination of the number, nominal value, types, and classes
of authorized shares that can be issued and placed by the Com-
pany, as well as which rights attach to these shares;

7.8.6.  The approval of extraordinary transactions involving more than
50 percent of the book value of assets of the Company;

7.8.7. A buyback of shares by the Company in cases specified by the Law
on Joint Stock Companies;”

7.8.8.  The issue of additional shares through closed subscription;*

7.8.9. The issue of convertible securities through closed subscription;”

7.8.10. The issue of additional shares through open subscription that are
25 or more percent of already placed common shares;* and

7.8.11. The issue of convertible securities if such securities can be
converted into 25 or more percent of already issued common
shares.”

7.9. A decision of the GMS on amending the Charter that limits the rights of
preferred shareholders shall be adopted if the decision is approved by:*

7.9.1. A three-fourths majority vote of preferred shareholders of the class
whose rights will be affected as a result of Charter amendments;
and

77 1JSC, Article 72, Clause 1 provides that the charter may delegate this authority to the
Supervisory Board. To avoid potential abuses, the company may not wish to delegate this
authority to the Supervisory Board.

2 1JSC, Article 39, Clause 3. The charter may require a higher number of votes to adopt the
specified decision.

» 1JSC, Article 39, Clause 3. The charter may require a higher number of votes to adopt the
specified decision.

LJSC, Article 39, Clause 4, Paragraph 1. The charter may require a higher number of votes
to adopt the specified decision.

31 LJSC, Article 39, Clause 4, Paragraph 2. The charter may require a higher number of votes
to adopt the specified decision.

2 1JSC, Article 32, Clause 4, Paragraph 2. The charter may require a higher number of votes
to adopt the specified decision.

20
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7.9.2. A separate three-fourths majority vote of all other shareholders with
voting rights participarting in the GMS.

7.10. A decision on those issues set forth in sections 7.7.9, 7.7.12-7.7.13, 7.8.2-7.8.4
can be taken only if submitted by the Supervisory Board.

7.11. [A decision on those issues set forth in sections 7.7.1-7.7.2, 7.7.11, 7.7.18—
7.7.19,7.7.21-7.7.22, 7.7.25, 7.8.6-7.8.8, 7.8.10 can be taken only if submit-
ted by the Supervisory Board.*]

7.12. Issues falling within the autority of the GMS may not be delegated to the
executive bodies of the Company.

7.13. The notification of the GMS and the voting ballot together with a
sample power of attorney®* shall be sent days prior to the GMS*
to all shareholders included in the list of shareholders entitled to par-
ticipate in the GMS by registered mail [option: and/or published in

[name of the printed media], [name of

the printed media], and [name of the printed media).*®

The notification for the GMS may be sent by other means of communi-

cation.

7.14. The following information and documents shall be made available for
shareholders days prior to the GMS:*’

3

b

Unless the charter provides otherwise.

* FCSM Code, Chapter 2, Section 1.7 recommends this in order to provide shareholders with
the possibility to vote through an authorized representative.

% LJSC, Article 52, Clause 1 provides that shareholders be notified of the GMS at least 20 days
prior to the GMS, at least 30 days prior to the GMS if the agenda covers the reorganization
of the company, and 50 days in the event of an EGM if the agenda includes the election of
directors by cumulative voting. FCSM Code, Chapter 2, Section 1.1.1 recommends a notification
period of at least 30 days.

% 1JSC, Article 52, Clause 1 provides that notification by registered mail is the default rule.
The charter, however, may provide for other ways of notification in lieu of, or in addition
to, registered mail such as publication in the print media, which requires the charter to specify
the name of the print media, personal delivery, and possibly other means of notification.
FCSM Code, Chapter 2, Section 1.1.4 also recommends that the company select several print
media.

7 LJSC, Article 52, Clause 3 provides a list of information (materials) that shall be submitted
to the shareholders as part of the preparation for the GMS. FCSM Code, Chapter 2, Section
1.3.1 recommends additional materials and documents.

21
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7.15.

7.14.1. The annual financial statements, including the balance sheet, profit
and loss statement, statement of cash flows, and notes to the fi-
nancial statements;

7.14.2. The minutes of the Revision Commission and report of the
Revision Commission that verifies the data in the annual re-
port;

7.14.3. The report of the External Auditor;

7.14.4. Information on proposed candidates for the position of the Gen-
eral Director, and members of the Executive Board, the Supervi-
sory Board, the Revision Commission, and the Counting Commis-
sion;

7.14.5. The draft of amendments to the Charter, if any;

7.14.6. The draft of the new version of the Charter, if any;

7.14.7. Drafts of any internal documents of the Company if same have
been submitted for approval;

7.14.8. Drafts of decisions for the AGM,;

7.14.9. The annual report;

7.14.10. The recommendations of the Supervisory Board on the distribution
of profits, including the amount of dividends and the procedure
for their payment, and on the distribution of losses of the Com-
pany based on the results of the previous fiscal year;

7.14.11. The report of the Supervisory Board to shareholders;*®

7.14.12. Information regarding the position of the Supervisory Board and
any dissenting opinions of directors on each agenda item;*
and

7.14.13. Any other information required by the Law and internal documents
of the Company.

If the agenda of the GMS includes the election of the Supervisory Board,
the General Director, the Revision Commission, the Counting Commission
and the approval of the External Auditor, information as to the existence
of the written consent of the candidates shall also be provided to share-
holders.

% FCSM Code, Chapter 2, Section 1.3.1.
¥ FCSM Code, Chapter 2, Section 1.3.3.
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7.16.

7.17.

7.18.

7.19.

IFC_part_6.indd 23

If the agenda of the GMS includes items that can trigger redemption rights,
the following information and documents shall be made available for share-
holders during the preparation for the GMS:

7.16.1. The report of the Independent Appraiser on the market value of shares
of the Company, the redemption of which can be requested;

7.16.2. Information regarding the value of the net assets of the Company
based on the data contained in the financial statements for the last
reporting period; and

7.16.3. The minutes (or an excerpt from the minutes) of the Supervisory
Board meeting that determined the redemption price for shares and
indicated that redemption price.

If the agenda of the GMS includes the reorganization of the Company, the
following information and documents shall be made available for share-
holders during the preparation for the GMS:

7.17.1. The basis or grounds for the terms and procedures of the reorganiza-
tion that is contained in the decision on the consolidation, merger,
split-up, divestiture, or transformation, or in the contract on merger
or consolidation that is approved by the relevant Supervisory Board;

7.17.2. The annual reports and the financial statements of all companies
involved in the reorganization for the last three fiscal years, or for
all completed fiscal years if the Company was established less than
three years ago; and

7.17.3. The quarterly accounting documents for the quarter that precedes
the date of the GMS.

Information and materials should be submitted to the persons entitled to
participate in the GMS for the purpose of familiarization at the premises
of the Company and other locations specified in the notification on the
GMS.»

If the agenda of the GMS includes the election of members to the Super-
visory Board, the Revision Commission, or the proposed External Auditor
of the Company, the candidates shall be present when the GMS discusses
this issue.”!

# FCSM Code, Chapter 2, Section 1.1.3 recommends providing additional access to such

information through electronic means of communications, including the internet.

4 FCSM Code, Chapter 2, Section 2.1.4.
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Article 8. The Supervisory Board

8.1. The Supervisory Board shall supervise the executive bodies and provide
overall strategic oversight of the Company’s activities, except for those issues
within the authority of the GMS.

8.2. The Supervisory Board shall consist of members who shall be
knowledgeable and experienced in the areas of the Company’s business
activities.*

8.3.  The following issues fall within the authority of the Supervisory Board:

8.3.1.  Determining the priority goals and strategic direction of the Com-
pany;

8.3.2.  Approving the financial and business plan of the Company;*

8.3.3.  Appointing and dismissing the General Director and, upon the
recommendation of the General Director, Executive Board mem-
bers;

8.3.4. Suspending the powers of the External Manager, if the GMS has
transferred the authority of the General Director, and appointing
an interim General Director;*

8.3.5.  Supervising the operations of the executive bodies of the Company;

8.3.6. Requesting the minutes of Executive Board meetings;

8.3.7. Authorizing the General Director or an Executive Board member
to serve in a similar capacity in any governing body (Supervi-
sory Board, General Director, Executive Board) of another legal
entity;

8.3.8.  Authorizing other persons, other than the Chairman of the Super-
visory Board, to sign contracts with the General Director, Executive
Board members, or the External Manager;

8.3.9. Designating the terms of contracts with the General Director, Exe-
cutive Board members, and the Corporate Secretary, including the
terms and conditions for remuneration;

42

FCSM Code, Chapter 3, Section 2.2.3 recommends that the Supervisory Board be composed
of at least three independent directors, or that at least one-fourth of the total number of
members should be independent directors.

# FCSM Code, Chapter 3, Section 1.1.
# FCSM Code, Chapter 3, Section 1.4.1.
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8.3.10.

8.3.11.

8.3.12.
8.3.13.

8.3.14.

8.3.15.

8.3.16.

8.3.17.

8.3.18.

8.3.19.

8.3.20.

8.3.21.

8.3.22.
8.3.23.

Initiating the steps for the reimbursement of losses caused to the
Company by Supervisory Board members;

Taking steps to reimburse the Company for losses caused by the
General Director and Executive Board members, including the in-
complete and/or untimely payment of declared dividends, as well
as the failure to provide documents and information to the Super-
visory Board where required pursuant to this Charter or by-laws
of the Company;

Appointing the Corporate Secretary;*

Establishing permanent and/or ad hoc Supervisory Board commit-
tees;

Approving by-laws and internal documents other than those that
require the approval of the GMS or the executive bodies of the
Company;

Establishing and liquidating branches and/or representative offices
of the Company, and making the corresponding amendments to
the Charter;

Establishing and liquidating subsidiaries and/or dependent compa-
nies in the Russian Federation and outside of the Russian Federa-
tion;

Calling the GMS including both the AGM and any EGM,;
Determining the form for conducting the GMS, e.g. with joint
presence of shareholders or written consent;

Determining the date, place, and time of the GMS, the time for
commencing and ending the registration of shareholders and their
representatives, and the postal address to which completed voting
ballots must be sent;

Determining the date for compiling the list of persons entitled to
participate in the GMS;

Reviewing proposals of shareholders and including approved
proposals in the agenda of the GMS or rejecting proposals for
the agenda;

Approving the agenda of the GMS;

Submitting proposals to the agenda of the GMS for items that can
only be put on the agenda by the Supervisory Board;

# FCSM Code, Chapter 5, Section 2.1.
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8.3.24. Determining procedures for notifying shareholders of the
GMS;

8.3.25. Compiling the list of information and materials to be made available
for shareholders during the preparation for the GMS, and of the
procedure for accessing this information;

8.3.26. Determining the form and the text of the voting ballot;

8.3.27. Determining the classes of preferred shares, the owners of which
shall have voting rights on each agenda item;

8.3.28. Including additional items on the agenda of the GMS upon its own
initiative;

8.3.29. Proposing candidates to the governing bodies on the agenda if
shareholders nominated less than the minimum number of candi-
dates;

8.3.30. Increasing the Charter Capital by issuing additional authorized
shares;

8.3.31. Approving of the report on the results of any share buyback by
the Company for the purpose of decreasing the Charter Capital;

8.3.32. Issuing non-convertible bonds;*

8.3.33. Approving the decision to purchase bonds placed by the Com-
pany;

8.3.34. Determining the market value of assets, the placement price, and
the redemption price of shares and other securities;

8.3.35. Approving the External Registrar of the Company and the terms
and conditions of the contract with the Registrar;

8.3.36. Using the reserve fund of the Company and other funds, if ap-
plicable;

8.3.37. Approving recommendations for the GMS regarding the amount
of dividends and the approval of the procedure for the payment
of such dividends;

8.3.38. Approving any extraordinary transactions that involve not more
than 50 percent of the book value of the Company’s assets;*’

% Good practice suggests that the Supervisory Board have the authority only to issue non-
convertible bonds.

4 LJSC, Article 78 provides that the charter may stipulate the same approval procedures for
other transactions as extraordinary transactions (defined within 25-50% of the book value
of the company’s assets).
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8.4.

8.5.

8.6.

IFC_part_6.indd 27

8.3.39.

8.3.40.

8.3.41.

8.3.42.

8.3.43.

8.3.44.

8.3.45.

8.3.46.

8.3.47.

8.3.48.

8.3.49.

Approving any transactions that involve ten percent of the book
value of assets of the Company;*

Approving any related party transactions that fall within the author-
ity of the Supervisory Board;

Requesting the Revision Commission to conduct an extraordinary
inspection;

Approving recommendations for the GMS regarding the remu-
neration of Revision Commission members;

Determining the fees of the External Auditor;

Preliminarily approving the annual report of the Company;
Preparing and approving the annual report of the Supervisory Board
regarding the business priorities of the Company for inclusion in
the annual report of the Companys;

Preparing and submitting the report on compliance with the FCSM
Code;

Requesting oral and written reports as well as any other documents
and information from the General Director, Executive Board mem-
bers and other officials of the Company that are necessary for
fulfilling its functions as a Supervisory Board;

Making decisions regarding operations that go beyond the financial
and business plan of the Company (non-standard operations);
and

Determining the list of additional documents that shall be kept by
the Company.

Issues falling under the authority of the Supervisory Board may not be
delegated to the executive bodies of the Company.

The procedures for preparing and conducting Supervisory Board meetings
shall be regulated by this Charter and by-laws of the Company.
Supervisory Board meetings are convened by the Chairman of the Super-
visory Board upon:

8.6.1.
8.6.2.
8.6.3.
8.6.4.

The initiative of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board; or
The request of a Supervisory Board member; or

The request of the Revision Commission; or

The request of the External Auditor; or

# FCSM Code, Chapter 4, Section 1.1.3.
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8.6.5. The request of the General Director; or

8.6.6. The request of the Executive Board; or

8.6.7.  The request of those shareholders holding two percent or more of
voting shares.*

8.7. A quorum for the Supervisory Board meeting shall be of the elected
Supervisory Board members.*

8.8.  The Supervisory Board shall make its decisions by a ___ majority vote of
the Supervisory Board members who participate in the Supervisory Board
meeting.”!

8.9. A Supervisory Board member is prohibited from transferring his vote to
any other person, including other members of the Supervisory Board.

8.10. The Supervisory Board shall approve the following decisions by unanimous
vote of all the acting members of the Supervisory Board:

8.10.1. Increases in the Charter Capital by issuing additional shares; and
8.10.2. Approval of an extraordinary transaction.

8.11. The following decisions of the Supervisory Board shall be approved by a
three-fourths majority of Supervisory Board members participating in the
Supervisory Board meeting:

8.11.1. The suspension of the powers the External Manager for any reason;

8.11.2. The approval of an interim General Director; and

8.11.3. Conducting an EGM to approve the new General Director, or the
External Manager.

¥ FCSM Code, Chapter 3, Section 4.13 recommends that the charter specify other parties who
have the right to request a meeting of the Supervisory Board. As an option, the FCSM Code
proposes to give this right to a shareholder (or a group of shareholders) possessing at least
2% of voting shares.

% LJSC, Article 68, Clause 2 provides that the quorum for a Supervisory Board meeting should
not be less than a majority of the Supervisory Board members. However, the FCSM Code,
Chapter 3, Section 4.14 recommends a higher number for a quorum which should be set at
a level ensuring that without the presence of non-executive and independent Supervisory
Board members, there can be no valid quorum.

1 1LJSC, Article 68, Clause 3 provides for a simple majority vote of Supervisory Board members
that are present at the meeting for the Board to adopt a decision, unless the charter or the
by-laws require a higher number of votes. The charter may also grant a deciding vote to the
Chairman of the Supervisory Board in the event of a tie vote.
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8.12.

8.13.

8.14.

8.15.

8.16.

52

53

54

55
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The Supervisory Board shall approve related party transactions by a simple
majority vote of those directors who are not interested parties to the trans-
action.”

The Supervisory Board shall elect the members of Supervisory Board com-
mittees by a simple majority vote of all Supervisory Board members.

The Supervisory Board may make its decisions by an absentee vote as
specified in the by-laws of the Company.>

The written opinions of absentee Supervisory Board members shall be con-
sidered when the Supervisory Board makes decisions.*

For the election of Supervisory Board members, shareholders shall receive
information on:*

8.16.1. The identity of the shareholder or the group of shareholders who
nominated the candidate;

8.16.2. The age and educational background of the candidate;

8.16.3. The positions held by the candidate during the last five years;

8.16.4. The positions held by the candidate at the moment of his nomina-
tion;

8.16.5. The nature of the relationship the candidate has with the Com-
pany;

8.16.6. Any positions held by the candidate on the Supervisory Board, or
any other official positions that are held by the candidate in other
legal entities;

8.16.7. Information on any nominations of the candidate for a position
on the Supervisory Board, or any other official positions with
other legal entities;

8.16.8. The relationship of the candidate with any affiliated persons;

LJSC, Article 83, Clause 2 and 3. This applies to companies with 1,000 or fewer shareholders
with voting rights. In companies with more than 1,000 shareholders with voting rights, it is
only necessary to have a simple majority of independent directors who are not interested
parties in the related party transaction.

LJSC, Article 68, Clause 1 states that the charter may provide for the approval of decisions
through the Supervisory Board by absentee vote when making critical decisions. This is
recommended by the FCSM Code, Chapter 3, Section 4.3.2.

FCSM Code, Chapter 3, Section 4.3.1.
FCSM Code, Chapter 3, Section 2.3.1.
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8.16.9. The nature of the candidate’s relationship with major business
partners of the Company;

8.16.10. Information related to the financial status of the candidate and
other circumstances that may affect the duties of the candidate as
a member of the Supervisory Board; and

8.16.11. Any refusal by the candidate to disclose information that has been
requested by the Company.

8.17. The candidates for the position of Supervisory Board members shall pos-

sess:>®

8.17.1. ;
8.17.2. ; and
8.17.3.

8.18. The Supervisory Board members shall be elected by cumulative voting.
8.19. The Supervisory Board members shall:

8.19.1. Act in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders;

8.19.2. Carry out their duties with an appropriate level of care and loyal-
ty;

8.19.3. Actively participate in Supervisory Board committees to which they
are elected;

8.19.4. Not disclose confidential information, or any other information
they became aware of during the course of performing their duties,
to persons that do not have access to such information, nor use
such information for their own personal interests or for the inter-
ests of other persons;

8.19.5. Notify the Supervisory Board in writing of any conflicts of interests
and disclose information as to all concluded transactions in which
the member was interested; and

8.19.6. Provide the shareholders with complete and accurate information
about the Company’s activities, financial status, and corporate
governance practices in a timely manner.

% FCSM Code, Chapter 3, Section 1.4.2. Insert the relevant qualifications of a candidate for
the position of a Supervisory Board member, such as educational background, experience,
relevant contacts, and personal characteristics.
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8.20. For the purposes of the Charter, Supervisory Board members are deemed
independent if their only non-trivial professional, familial, or financial con-
nection to the Company, Supervisory Board, General Director, or any other
executive officer is their directorship, and:*’

IFC_part_6.indd 31
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8.20.1.

8.20.2.

8.20.3.

8.20.4.

8.20.5.

8.20.6.

8.20.7.

Over the last three years has not been, and, at the time of his elec-
tion to the Supervisory Board, is not an officer (manager) or em-
ployee of the Company, or an officer or employee of the External
Manager of the Company;

Over the last three years has not been, and, at the time of his elec-
tion to the Supervisory Board, is not an officer of another com-
pany in which any of the officers of the Company is a member of
the Nominations and Remuneration Committee of the Supervisory
Board;

Over the last three years has not been, and, at the time of his elec-
tion to the Supervisory Board, is not an affiliated person of an
officer (manager) of the Company (or officer of the Company’s
External Manager);

Over the last three years has not been, and, at the time of his elec-
tion to the Supervisory Board, is not an affiliated person of the
Company or an affiliated person of such affiliated persons;

Is not bound by contractual relations with the Company, whereby
such member may acquire property or receive money with a value
in excess of ten percent of such person’s aggregate annual income,
not including any remuneration received for participating in ac-
tivities of the Supervisory Board;

Over the last three years has not been, and, at the time of his
election to the Supervisory Board, is not a major business partner
of the Company. A major business partner is defined as a busi-
ness partner whose annual transactions with the Company are
valued in excess of ten percent of the book value of assets of the
Company; and

Over the last three years has not been, and, at the time of his elec-
tion to the Supervisory Board, is not a representative of the Gov-
ernment of the Russian Federation.

FCSM Code, Chapter 3, Section 2.2.2. For an alternative definition of independent directors
see Annex 18.
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8.21. Independent directors should inform the Supervisory Board of any changes
in their independence.

8.22. The Supervisory Board may establish committees for the provisional con-
sideration of major issues and the development of proposals in accordance
with the requirements specified in the by-laws of the Company.*®

Article 9. The Executive Bodies

9.1. The execution of the day-to-day operations of the Company shall be con-
ducted by the following executive bodies:

9.1.1. The General Director; and
9.1.2. The Executive Board.

9.2.  Neither the General Director nor Executive Board members shall serve on
a governing body of any other Company without the prior approval of the
Supervisory Board. The General Director and Executive Board members
may not be a member of the governing bodies or an employee of a compet-
ing company.

9.3. In addition to the authority of the General Director and the Executive
Board as defined in the Charter, by-laws, and any other applicable legal
provisions, the rights and obligations of the General Director and of the
Executive Board may be specified in the employment contract entered
into between the Company and the General Director or Executive Board
members. Such employment contract shall be signed on behalf of the
Company by the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, except that such
contracts for Executive Board members shall be signed by the General
Director after the terms have been approved by the Supervisory

Board.
9.4. The General Director presides over Executive Board meetings.
9.5. The Executive Board shall consist of persons.

9.6. The authority of the executive bodies includes all issues related to the
day-to-day management of the Company’s activities, except for those is-

The number, names, authority, and working procedures of Supervisory Board committees
will be specified in the by-laws of the Company. See also: Annexes 7-10.
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9.7.

9.8.

9.9.

9.10.
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sues that fall within the authority of the GMS and the Supervisory

Board.

The General Director and Executive Board members are elected for
[years].”®

The General Director and Executive Board members may begin to perform

their duties from the moment the minutes of the Supervisory Board meet-

ing are signed by the Supervisory Board.

The General Director has the authority to:

9.9.1.  Act without a power of attorney on behalf of the Company;

9.9.2. Represent the Company’s interests in relations with third par-
ties;

9.9.3.  Conclude transactions on behalf of the Company within the limi-
tations set forth by the present Charter and the Law;

9.9.4. Hire staff, sign labor contracts, and manage the performance of all
employees of the Company;

9.9.5. ; and

9.9.6.

The Executive Board has the authority to adopt the following decisions:

9.10.1. Provisional approval of transactions or a group of related transac-
tions with property, the value of which exceeds five percent of the
book value of the Company’s assets according to the balance sheet
prepared for the latest reporting period;

9.10.2. Decisions regarding issues to be included on the agenda of the GMS
of subsidiary companies in which the Company is the only share-

holder;
9.10.3. Development of the Company’s financial and business plans;
9.10.4. 5
9.10.5. ; and

9.10.6. Other issues specified by the Law, the Charter, and the by-laws of
the Company.

To ensure continuity in the Company’s direction of development, the IFC’s RCGP recommends
electing the General Director and Executive Board members for a term of 3-5 years, following
an initial one-year term.
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9.11. The General Director calls the Executive Board meetings either upon his
own initiative or upon the request of the Supervisory Board or an Executive
Board member.

9.12. The procedures for Executive Board meetings shall be regulated by the Law,
the Charter, and the by-laws of the Company.

9.13. The following decisions are approved by the Executive Board by a three-
fourths majority vote of Executive Board members participating in the

meeting:®

9.13.1. ;
9.13.2. ; and
9.13.3.

9.14. The following decisions are approved by a unanimous vote of Executive
Board members participating in the meeting:

9.14.1. 5
9.14.2. ; and
9.14.3.

9.15. The candidates for the positions of General Director, Executive Board mem-
bers, and the External Manager may not be officials or employees of an-
other company that competes with the Company.

9.16. The General Director and Executive Board members shall:

9.16.1. Act honestly;

9.16.2. Act in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders;

9.16.3. Act with care and be loyal;

9.16.4. Not disclose confidential information or any other information they
became aware of during the performance of their duties to persons
who do not have access to such information, nor use such information
for their own personal interests or for the interests of other persons;

9.16.5. Notify the Supervisory Board in writing of any conflicts of interests
regarding transaction with the Company and disclose information
as to all concluded transactions in which the member was an inter-
ested party; and

® TInsert the list of decisions that require a three-fourths majority vote.
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9.16.6. Provide the Supervisory Board and shareholders with complete and
accurate information about the Company’s activities, financial
status, and effective corporate governance practices in a timely
manner.

9.17. An Executive Board member should:

9.17.1. Regularly attend and actively participate in Executive Board meet-
ings;

9.17.2. Participate actively in the discussion of issues and vote on matters
included on the agenda of Executive Board meetings;

9.17.3. Place matters on the agenda of Executive Board meetings or demand
that the General Director conduct an Executive Board meeting when
this is necessary;

9.17.4. Notify the General Director if the member is unable to attend an
Executive Board meeting;

9.17.5. Provide adequate information to the Supervisory Board so that its
members are properly informed on corporate matters.®!

9.18. The General Director and Executive Board members shall refrain from:

9.18.1. Participating in a competing Company;*

9.18.2. Participating in transactions involving a potential conflict of inter-
est with the Company, such as related party transactions;

9.18.3. Using corporate property and facilities for personal reasons unless
authorized by the Supervisory Board; and

9.18.4. Using information or business opportunities for personal bene-
fit.

Article 10. The Corporate Secretary
10.1. The Company shall appoint a Corporate Secretary.*

10.2. The functions, rights, and duties of the Corporate Secretary shall be defined
by the Charter and by-laws of the Company.

¢ FCSM Code, Chapter 3, Section 3.1.2.
¢ FCSM Code, Chapter 4, Section 2.1.3.
% FCSM Code, Chapter 5, Introduction.
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10.3. The Corporate Secretary shall ensure:*

10.3.1. Compliance with the Law, the Charter and by-laws of the Com-
pany regarding the preparation and conducting of the GMS and
Supervisory Board meetings;

10.3.2. The disclosure of relevant information and storage of Company
documents;

10.3.3. The examination of shareholder requests;

10.3.4. The resolution of disputes related to the violation of shareholder
rights; and

10.3.5

10.4. The candidates for Corporate Secretary shall have:*

10.4.1. 5
10.4.2. ; and
10.4.3.

10.5. The Corporate Secretary is entitled to receive any information from the
Company’s governing bodies and employees as required to perform his
functions. The Supervisory Board, the General Director, the Executive
Board, and other officials of the Company shall provide the Corporate
Secretary with any information so requested.®

10.6. The Corporate Secretary is appointed by the Supervisory Board and shall
perform his duties pursuant to the provisions of the Charter, the by-laws
of the Company, and provisions of the contract entered into between the
Secretary and the Company.*’

Article 11. The Revision Commission and External Audits

11.1. The Revision Commission shall be elected at the AGM and remain in exis-
tence until the next AGM.
11.2. The Revision Commission shall consist of members.

¢ FCSM Code, Chapter 5, Section 1.

% FCSM Code, Chapter 5, Section 2.2.1. Insert qualifications required for the candidate for the
position of a corporate secretary, such as education background, experience, and personal
characteristics.

% FCSM Code, Chapter 5, Section 1.6.1.
¢ FCSM Code, Chapter 5, Section 2.1.

36

‘ IFC part 6.indd 36 @ 17.09.2004 11:24:06



®

Annex 2. A Model Company Charter

11.3.

11.4.

11.5.

11.6.

IFC_part_6.indd 37

The Revision Commission shall perform its duties in conformity with the
Law, the Charter, and the by-laws of the Company.
The Revision Commission shall:

11.4.1.

11.4.2.

11.4.3.

11.4.4.

11.4.5.

11.4.6.

11.4.7.

11.4.8.

11.4.9.

11.4.10.
11.4.11.

11.4.12.
11.4.13.
11.4.14.

Inspect the Company’s financial and business activities by perform-
ing regular and extraordinary inspections, and submit its reports to
the GMS;
Inspect specific aspects of the Company’s financial and business
activities upon the request of a shareholder or a group of share-
holders owning at least ten percent of voting shares, or at the request
of the Supervisory Board;
Verify compliance of the activities of the Supervisory Board with
the Law;
Verify facts regarding the use of insider information;
Verify the timeliness of payments to contractors, payments to the
budget, calculations and payments of dividends, and the performance
of other obligations by the Company;
Examine the use of the Company’s reserve fund and other funds;
Verify the timeliness of payments for issued shares of the Com-
pany;
Review the Company’s financial status, its solvency, and creditwor-
thiness;
Confirm the accuracy of data contained in the Company’s annual
report and other annual financial statements;
Oversee the valuation of the Company’s net assets;
Inform the GMS and the Supervisory Board of any problems or
deficiencies revealed;

; and
Perform any other duties as specified by the Law, the Charter, and
the by-laws of the Company.

The Company shall have an External Auditor who shall be elected by the

GMS.

The External Auditor shall act pursuant to the Law and the provisions of
the contract entered into between the Company and the External Audi-

tor.
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Article 12. The Annual Report of the Company

12.1.

The annual report shall include the following information:®

12.1.1.  The Company’s position in its industry;

12.1.2. Priority directions of the Company’s activities;

12.1.3. The report of the Supervisory Board on the Company’s results in
its principal areas of activity;

12.1.4. Prospects for the Company’s development;

12.1.5. The report on the payment of declared dividends;

12.1.6. The analysis of the principal risks associated with the Company’s
activities;

12.1.7. A list of extraordinary transactions concluded by the Company
during the reporting year, including the significant terms of those
transactions and the governing body of the Company that approved
these transactions;

12.1.8. A list of related party transactions concluded by the Company dur-
ing the reporting year including a list of related parties, the signifi-
cant terms of such transactions and the governing the body of the
Company that approved these transactions;

12.1.9. The composition of the Supervisory Board, including information
regarding changes in the composition of the Board that took place
during the reporting year, as well as information on members of
the Supervisory Board, including a brief summary of their per-
sonal data and information on their share ownership in the Com-
pany during the reporting year;

12.1.10. Information on the General Director and Executive Board members
including a brief summary of their personal data and information on
their share ownership in the Company during the reporting year;

12.1.11. Criteria for the determination of and the amount of remuneration
and expenses for the General Director, each member of the Execu-

This article lists only legal requirements for the annual report of the Company. It does
not include annual financial statements. Other information can be included in the annual
report based on best practices. For more details, see the Model Annual Report in Annex
29 and FCSM Regulation No. 17/ps on Additional Requirements to the Procedure of
Preparing, Calling, and Conducting the General Meeting of Shareholders, 31 May 2002,
Section 3.6.
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tive Board, and each member of the Supervisory Board, and the
aggregate amount of remuneration paid to all these persons and
governing bodies during the reporting year;

12.1.12. Information regarding the Company’s compliance with the recom-
mendations of the FCSM Code;

12.1.13. The Company’s corporate governance policies and practices;

12.1.14. H

12.1.15. ; and

12.1.16. Any other information required to be included in the by-laws of
the Company.

12.2. The annual report shall be signed by the General Director, Chief Accountant,
and Supervisory Board members.*’

Article 13. Miscellaneous Provisions

13.1. The General Director shall ensure that the originals or, in lieu thereof, no-
tarized copies of the following corporate records and documents be main-
tained by the Company as provided by the Law:

13.1.1. The Charter and any amendments and additions thereto, which
have been registered in the manner required by the Law, the decision
on the establishment of the Company, and the certificate of state
registration of the Company;

13.1.2. Any documents confirming the Company’s rights to property re-
flected on its balance sheet;

13.1.3. Internal documents;

13.1.4. Regulations of the Company’s branch(es) or representative office(s);

13.1.5. Corporate documents of subsidiaries and dependent companies, if
any;

13.1.6. Annual reports and financial statements;

13.1.7. Share prospectuses;

13.1.8. Accounting documents;

13.1.9. Financial reporting documents presented to the appropriate govern-
ing bodies;

% FCSM Code, Chapter 7, Section 3.3.8.
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13.1.10. Minutes of the meeting of GMS, the Supervisory Board, the Revi-
sion Commission, and the Executive Board, as well as all documents
approved by the General Director;

13.1.11. A list of related parties of the Company indicating the number of
shares of each type and class belonging to each such person;

13.1.12. Reports of the Revision Commission, External Auditor, and state
and municipal financial oversight bodies;

13.1.13. Documents on the Company’s employees; and

13.1.14. Other documents as required by the Law.

13.2. The Charter shall become effective immediately upon registration with the
relevant state agency.
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Annex 4
A MODEL COMPANY-LEVEL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

APPROVED
By decision of the Supervisory Board
of the Open Joint Stock Company « »

Supervisory Board Minutes
No.

of 200_

Signature of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board

dated this __day of , 200_
[The Company’s Seal]

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

of the Open Joint Stock Company

« »

The city of
, 200_

95

IFC part 6.indd 55 @ 17.09.2004 11:24:10



56

‘ IFC_part_6.indd 56

®

The Russia Corporate Governance Manual

Table of Contents

P REAMBLE .ttt ettt n
BACKGROUND AND PROFILE ...t eeee et e e
PART . CoMMITMENT TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ... e eee s e
1. Definition and PriNCIPIES.............oevieeeeieiseeee et
2. Internal Corporate DOCUMENTALION..............c.coveeeeeeeeeeeeeieeiiveeearenn,
3. General Governance SHUCHUIE ...
4. Compliance with and Adherence to Corporate Governance .................
PART II. GOOD BOARD PRAGTIGES .......ucveeeeeciciciiccicc e

1. At the Supervisory Board LeVel..............cccoooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeieisisisiein,
2. At the Executive BoAY LEVEI ..............cocooeeveeeeeveieeeiiseeei e

3. Interaction Between the Supervisory Board and Executive Bodies

and the Role of the Corporate Secretary [if established].....................
PART 1l SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS ....viuvvieeiceeiictcceetee et

1. General Meetings of ShareNOIGErs ..............ccoeeeveeeeeeeeeieieieieieiein,
2. (Minority) Shareholder Rights Protection ................cccceeevevenninnns
3. Related Party TranSaCtONS ............coeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeereeeesene
4. DIVIAENA POLICY ...

PART 1V. INFORMATION DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY ...vveevvveeeeveesveeseieeesneans

1. Disclosure Policies and PractiCes ............cccoouuveeeeeeeeceeeieeeeeeeeeeeeennn.
2. Financial REPOITING .......ccovoveeeeeeeeieeeeeeseeeee et
3. Internal Audit and CONTIOl ..............cooeeceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee
4. The EXternal AUCE .............ccooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e
5. OWNEISHID SHUCIUIE ...

Preamhle

The purpose of this Company Code of Corporate Governance (hereinafter the
Company Code) is to improve and systematize the governance of the Open Joint
Stock Company « » (hereinafter the Company), make its governance
more transparent, and demonstrate the Company’s commitment to good corporate

governance by developing and furthering:

* Responsible, accountable, and value-based performance management;

» Effective oversight, with executive bodies that act in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders, including minority shareholders, and seek to

enhance shareholder value in a sustainable manner; and
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* Appropriate information disclosure and transparency, as well as an effective
system of risk management and internal control.

By adopting, following, and updating the Company Code, the Company’s
charter, and by-laws on a regular basis, the Company confirms its desire to de-
monstrably lead and promote good corporate governance. To foster the confidence
of its shareholders, employees, investors, and the general public, the Company
Code goes beyond the established legal and regulatory framework in Russia today,
and embraces both national and internationally recognized corporate governance
principles and practices.

The Company’s governing bodies and employees understand this Company
Code as their joint obligation, and accordingly, obligate themselves to ensure that
its provisions and its spirit are adhered to and acted upon throughout the Com-
pany [and its subsidiaries and dependent companies].

Background and Profile

The Company’s mission is to . Its objectives are to
, , and J
The Company operates in the following business sectors: It
operates in the following regions: , , and , as well
as countries: , and
The Company is publicly listed on the exchange.

Part I. Commitment to Corporate Governance

1. Definition and Principles

The Company defines corporate governance as a set of structures and processes for
the direction and control of companies, which involves a set of relationships between
the Company’s shareholders, Supervisory Board, and executive bodies with the

' This section is intended to provide an overview of the company’s mission, objectives, and
main areas of activity. It may also include other areas that may be of interest to the readers
of the Company Code that will enable them to gain a broad understanding of the company,
its business, geographical location, and rationale for drafting the Company Code.

a7
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purpose of creating long-term shareholder value. It views corporate governance as
a means to improve operational efficiency, attract financing at a lower cost, and
build a better reputation. It also views a sound system of governance as an impor-
tant contribution to the rule of law in the Russian Federation, and an important
determinant of the role of the Company in a modern economy and society.

The Company Code sets out the Company’s corporate governance framework
and is based on Russian legislation, the Federal Commission for the Securities Market’s
Code of Corporate Conduct (FCSM Code), as well as internationally recognized best
practices and principles, such as the OECD Principles of Corporate Governance.

The Company’s corporate governance framework is based on the following
principles:

* Accountability: This Company Code establishes the Company’s account-
ability to all shareholders and guides the Company’s Supervisory Board in
setting strategy, and guiding and monitoring the Company’s management.

* Fairness: The Company obligates itself to protect shareholder rights and
ensure the equitable treatment of all shareholders, including minority [and
foreign] shareholders. All shareholders are to be granted effective redress for

® violation of their rights through the Supervisory Board [or a shareholder rights
committee, if established].

* Transparency: The Company is to ensure that timely and accurate disclosure
is made on all material matters regarding the Company, including the finan-
cial situation, performance, ownership, and governance of the Company, in
a manner easily accessible to interested parties.

* Responsibility: The Company recognizes the rights of other stakeholders as estab-
lished by laws and regulations, and encourages co-operation between the Com-
pany and stakeholders in creating sustainable and financially sound enterprises.

The Company, its key officers and all employees act in accordance with all
applicable laws and regulations, and, furthermore, shall comply with ethical stan-
dards of business conduct as defined by this Company Code, the FCSM Code and
[name other source of ethical standards].

2. Internal Corporate Documentation

This Company Code is principle-based. More specific corporate governance
structures, processes, and practices are regulated in the Company’s charter and the
by-laws for the:

58
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* General Meeting of Shareholders (GMS);
* Supervisory Board;
* Executive bodies;

¢ The Audit Commission; and
° 72

This set of internal corporate documents follows legal and regulatory require-
ments, and incorporates the main provisions of the FCSM Code and internation-
ally recognized corporate governance practices. The above-mentioned corporate
documents are published on the Company’s website.

3. General Governance Structure

The Company has the following governing and other bodies:

* The General Meeting of Shareholder. The highest governing body of the
Company allows the shareholders to participate in the governance of the
Company;

* The Supervisory Board is responsible for the strategic direction of the Com-
pany, and the guidance and oversight of management; [the Company’s Su-
pervisory Board may also establish committees on audit, corporate governance,
nominations and remuneration, strategic planning and finance];

* The General Director and the Executive Board carry out the day-to-day
management of the Company and implement the strategy set by the Super-
visory Board and shareholders;

* TheRevision Commission oversees the financial and economic activities of
the Company and reports directly to the GMS;

* The Corporate Secretary ensures that the governing bodies follow internal
rules and external regulations to facilitate clear communications between
the governing bodies, and acts as an adviser to directors and senior execu-
tives;

* ThelInternal Auditor develops and monitors internal control procedures for
the business operations of the Company. The Internal Auditor reports di-

72 Best practice calls for additional by-laws for the Corporate Secretary; for all Supervisory Board
committees established; on internal control; on the company’s dividend policy; on risk
management; on information disclosure and transparency; and on corporate governance policies
in groups of companies. The company may also wish to draft a company code of ethics.
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rectly to the Supervisory Board [through the Audit Committee], and reports
administratively to the General Director.

4. Compliance with and Adherence to Corporate Governance Policies
and Practices

The Company’s is responsible for ensuring the development
of, compliance with, and periodic review of corporate governance policies and
practices in the Company.”

Part Il. Good Board Practices

The Company views a vigilant, professional, and independent Supervisory Board
as essential for good corporate governance. The Supervisory Board cannot sub-
stitute for talented professional managers, nor change the economic environment
in which the Company operates. It can, however, influence the performance of
the Company through its supervision, guidance, and control of management in
the interests and for the benefit of the Company’s shareholders. Executive bodies
also play a crucial role in the governance process. The effective interaction between
governing all bodies, and a clear separation of authorities is key to sound corporate
governance.

1. At the Supervisory Board Level

a. Authority. The Supervisory Board’s scope of authority is set forth in the
Company’s charter, in conformity with relevant legislation and the recommenda-
tions of the FCSM Code.

b. Size. The Supervisory Board [upon the recommendation of its corporate
governance committee, if established] recommends the appropriate size of the
Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board’s size is fixed in the Company’s char-
ter. Achieving the needed quality and mix-of-skills will be the primary consider-
ation in arriving at the overall number.

73 Good practice suggests that the Corporate Secretary develope and the Supervisory Board’s
Corporate Governance Committee approve these policies.
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c. Election, Term, and Dismissal. Directors are elected for a one-year term.
The Company uses cumulative voting to elect its directors.

The Supervisory Board does not believe it is in the best interests of the Com-
pany or its shareholders to introduce term limits. Experienced directors, familiar
with the Company and the industry in which it operates, are key to providing
proper guidance.

The GMS may only dismiss all directors. Grounds for dismissal are included in
the Company’s charter [or by-law for the Supervisory Board].

d. Composition and Independence. The composition of the Supervisory Board
is determined in such a way that combines the representatives of various share-
holder groups, including minority shareholders.

The Supervisory Board’s composition, competencies, and mix-of-skills are
adequate for oversight duties, and the development of the Company’s direction
and strategy. Each individual director has the experience, knowledge, qualifica-
tions, expertise, and integrity necessary to effectively discharge Supervisory Board
duties and enhance the Board’s ability to serve the long-term interests of the
Company and its shareholders. The Supervisory Board has a broad range of ex-
pertise that covers the Company’s main business, sector, and geographical areas,
and includes at least experienced financial experts who are non-executive,
independent directors.” A full and complete set of information on the directors’
qualifications is set forth and annually reviewed by the Supervisory Board [upon
the recommendation of its corporate governance committee] and fixed in the
Company’s charter or by-laws.

The law prohibits the General Director from being the Chairman of the Su-
pervisory Board. To enhance unbiased oversight, the Company believes that a
non-executive director should chair the Supervisory Board.

The Company’s Supervisory Board is composed of not more than 25% of
executive directors who are employees of the Company.

To ensure the impartiality of decisions and to maintain the balance of interests
among various groups of shareholders, __ [number or percentage] of the Supervi-
sory Board’s members are independent directors. The Company defines those

7 Good practice suggests that the Supervisory Board consist of at least two such persons.
Should this not be possible, then the Supervisory Board shall hire an outside, independent
adviser.
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directors who have no material relationship with the Company beyond their di-
rectorship as independent. The Supervisory Board ascertains which members are
to be deemed independent during the first Supervisory Board meeting. Criteria
for determining director independence shall be based on the FCSM Code, comple-
mented by other internationally recognized definitions, and specified in the
Company’s charter and annual report.

The Company recognizes that directors that have served for longer than seven
years shall not be considered independent directors.

e. Structure and Committees. The Company has established the following
Supervisory Board committees:

e The Audit Committee;

. 5 and
* Other committees deemed necessary by the Supervisory Board.”

All committees have by-laws containing provisions on the scope of authority,
competencies, composition, working procedures, as well as the rights and respon-
sibilities of the committee members.

Each committee is to provide provisional consideration of the most impor-
tant issues that fall within the authority of the Supervisory Board. After each
of its meetings, the committee shall report on the meeting to the Supervisory
Board.

f. Working Procedures. The Supervisory Board meets according to a
fixed schedule, set at the beginning of its term, which enables it to properly
discharge its duties. As a rule, the Supervisory Board shall meet at least __
times a year.”

7> Other Supervisory Board committees recommended by the FCSM Code and generally-accepted
best practices cover areas in which there is an especially large potential for conflicts of interest
and the need for independent thought, in particular, the nominations and remuneration
committee. Companies may eventually wish to consider adding further committees on corporate
governance, strategic planning and finance, shareholder rights, ethics, and/or corporate conflicts
resolution. However, companies should be prudent in the establishment of committees. Excessive
numbers of committees may be costly, difficult to manage, and may fragment Board
deliberations.

76 Good practice suggests that four to ten Supervisory Board meetings per year are sufficient to
properly discharge the Board’s duties.
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Non-executive directors meet separately from executive members at least once
a year.

Detailed procedures for calling and conducting Supervisory Board meetings
are defined in the Supervisory Board’s by-law. All directors are provided with a
concise but comprehensive set of information [by the Corporate Secretary] in a
timely manner, concurrently with the notice of the Board meeting, but no less
than days before each meeting.”” This set of documents is to include: an
agenda; minutes of the prior Board meeting; key performance indicators, includ-
ing relevant financial information prepared by management; and clear recom-
mendations for action.

The Supervisory Board keeps detailed minutes of its meetings that adequately
reflect Board discussions, signed by the Chairman [and the Corporate Secretary],
and include voting results on an individual basis. The Company keeps transcripts
(verbatim reports) of important Board decisions, such as the approval of extraor-
dinary transactions.

g. Self-Evaluation. The Supervisory Board conducts a yearly self-evaluation.
This process is to be organized by [e.g. the corporate governance
committee] and the results are to be discussed by the full Supervisory Board.
Independent consultants may also be invited to assist the Supervisory Board in
this process.

h. Training and Access to Advisers. The Company offers an orientation
program for new directors on the Company, its business, and other issues that
will assist them in discharging their duties. The Company also provides general
access to training courses to its directors as a matter of continuous professional
education. The Supervisory Board and its committees shall also have the ability
to retain independent legal counsel, accounting, or other consultants to advise the
Supervisory Board when necessary.

i. Remuneration. The remuneration of non-executive directors is com-
petitive and is comprised of an annual fee (part of which can be paid in
the form of shares in lieu of cash), a meeting attendance fee, and an ad-
ditional fee for the chairmanship of committees or the Supervisory Board
itself. The remuneration package shall, however, not jeopardize a director’s
independence. Executive directors are not paid beyond their executive

77 Good practice suggests around two weeks.
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remuneration package. The Supervisory Board [nominations and remu-
neration committee] periodically reviews the remuneration paid to direc-
tors. All directors sign a contract with the Company. The Company
publicly discloses the remuneration of each director on an individual
basis.

The Company will not provide personal loans or credits to its directors.

Further, the Company shall not provide stock options to its directors unless
approved by the GMS.

j. Duties and Responsibilities. Directors act in good faith, with due care and
in the best interests of the Company and all its shareholders — and not in the
interests of any particular shareholder — on the basis of all relevant information.
Each director is expected to attend all Supervisory Board and applicable commit-
tee meetings.

The Supervisory Board must decide as to whether its directors can hold po-
sitions in the governing bodies of other companies. The Company shall not
prohibit its directors from serving on other Supervisory Boards. Directors are
expected to ensure that other commitments do not interfere in the discharge of
their duties.

Directors shall not divulge or use confidential or insider information about
the Company.

Directors shall abstain from actions that will or may lead to a conflict
of interest with the Company. When such a conflict exists, directors shall
disclose information about the conflict of interests to the other directors
and shall abstain from voting on such issues.

2. At the Executive Body Level

The Company understands that the day-to-day management of the Company
requires strong leadership from the General Director. It also recognizes the chal-
lenge and complexity of running a Company and believes in teamwork, a collec-
tive rather than individual approach. The Company has thus established an
Executive Board, chaired by the General Director.

a. Authority. The General Director and the Executive Board carry out the
Company’s day-to-day management, implementing its goals and objectives, and
carrying out its strategy.
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b. Size. The General Director [in close cooperation with the nominations and
remuneration committee, if established] proposes to the Supervisory Board an
appropriate number of Executive Board members. The size of the Executive Board
is fixed in the Company’s charter upon the recommendation of the Supervisory
Board. Achieving the needed quality and mix of executives will be the primary
consideration in arriving at the overall number.

c. Election, Term, and Dismissal. The Supervisory Board [or the GMS]
elects the General Director fora year term.”® The General Director in
turn submits proposals for Executive Board membership to the Supervisory
Board for approval. Other Executive Board members are appointed fora
year term.

The Supervisory Board may dismiss the General Director. The Supervi-
sory Board may also dismiss Executive Board members, upon close coordination
with the General Director. Grounds include, among other things, providing
false information to the Supervisory Board, willful neglect of his duties and

responsibilities, or conviction of a criminal act.

d. Composition. The Executive Board’s composition, competencies, and mix-
of-skills are suited to the effective and efficient running of the Company’s day-
to-day operations. Each Executive Board member, including the General Director,
has the experience, knowledge, qualifications, and expertise necessary to effec-
tively discharge his duties.

All Executive Board members have the:

* Trust of the Company’s shareholders, directors, other managers, and em-
ployees;

» Ability to relate to the interests of all shareholders and to make well-reasoned
decisions;

* Professional expertise and education to be an effective manager;

* Business experience, knowledge of national issues and trends, and knowledge
of the market, products, and competitors; and

» Capacity to translate knowledge and experience into solutions that can be
applied to the Company.

8 Good practice suggests that the Supervisory Board elect the General Director and the other
Executive Board members upon the recommendation of the General Director. The IFC’s RCGP
recommends a term ranging from three to five years, following an initial one-year term.
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e. Working Procedures. The Executive Board meets regularly, and agenda
issues are communicated in advance. The working procedures of the Executive
Board are specified in the by-laws for the Executive Board.

f. Succession Planning. The Supervisory Board is to adopt a succession plan
that outlines how it will effectively deal with the temporary or permanent loss of
senior executives. To assist in this process, the General Director is to provide the
Supervisory Board with a list of individuals best suited to replace the Company’s
key executives, including the position of the General Director.

g. Remuneration and Evaluation. The amount of remuneration of the Gen-
eral Director and members of the Executive Board is set by the Supervisory Board,
and approved by the GMS. The remuneration shall have a fixed and variable com-
ponent, and the latter is tied to key performance indicators, in-line with the input
into the Company’s long-term development and creation of shareholder value.

The Company will not provide personal loans or credits to its executive
officers.

h. Duties and Responsibilities. The General Director and Executive Board
& members shall act in good faith and with due care in the best interests of the
Company and all its shareholders — and not the interests of a particular share-
holder — on the basis of all relevant information.
The General Director and Executive Board members shall abstain from actions
that will or may lead to a conflict between their and the Company’s interests.
When such a conflict exists, members of the executive bodies shall disclose infor-
mation about the conflict of interests to the Supervisory Board, and shall abstain
from deliberating and voting on such issues.

3. Interaction Between the Supervisory Board and Executive Bodies
and the Role of the Corporate Secretary

Good corporate governance provides for an open dialogue between the Company’s
Supervisory Board and executive bodies. The Company has thus developed a
procedure for periodic reports (information briefs) of the General Director and
Executive Board to the Supervisory Board, as specified in the Executive Board’s
by-law. The Supervisory Board shall further have unrestricted access to the
Company’s management and its employees. The Corporate Secretary plays a key,
overall role in facilitating this process.
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The Company’s Corporate Secretary is employed on a full-time basis. The
Corporate Secretary possesses the necessary qualifications and sKkills to ensure that
the governing bodies follow internal rules and external regulations; facilitates clear
communications between the governing bodies in-line with the Company’s char-
ter, by-laws, and other internal rules; and keeps the Company’s key officers abreast
of the latest corporate governance developments.

Part lll. Shareholder Rights

All shareholders have the right to participate in the governance and the profits of
the Company. All rights are regulated in the Company’s charter and by-laws.

1. General Meetings of Shareholders

The Company has a by-law for the GMS that provides a detailed description
of all the procedures for preparing, conducting, and making decisions at
the GMS.

a. Preparation. Every shareholder that holds voting shares is entitled to par-
ticipate and vote during the GMS, and receive advance notification, an agenda, as
well as accurate, objective, and timely information sufficient for making an in-
formed decision about the issues to be decided at the GMS. The Company’s
executive bodies will be responsible for this process, which is to be implemented
by the Corporate Secretary.

The Company has a fair and effective procedure for submitting proposals to
the agenda of the GMS, including proposals for the nomination of Supervisory
Board members. The agenda of the GMS is not changed after the Supervisory
Board approves it.

b. Conducting the GMS. The Company takes all the steps necessary to facili-
tate the participation of shareholders in the GMS and vote on the agenda items.

The venue of the GMS is easily accessible for the majority of shareholders.
Registration procedures are convenient and allow for quick and easy admittance
to the GMS.

The Company’s executive bodies are to help shareholders exercise their voting
rights in the event they are unable to physically attend the GMS. The executive
bodies will do so by providing shareholders with a power of attorney form, based
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upon which the shareholder will have an opportunity to instruct his proxy on how
to vote on agenda items.

The Company ensures that members of the Supervisory Board, executive
bodies, Revision Commission, and External Auditor are present during the
GMS to answer questions. Each shareholder has the right to take the floor
on matters on the agenda, and submit relevant proposals and questions. The
chairman of the GMS conducts the meeting professionally, fairly, and expe-
ditiously.

Voting is conducted by ballot. The Company has effective shareholder voting
mechanisms in place (e.g. super-majority voting) to protect minority shareholders
against unfair actions, as regulated in its charter and by-law for the GMS. The
procedures for counting votes at the GMS are transparent and exclude the pos-
sibility of manipulating voting results. The External Registrar of the Company
shall also fulfill the functions of the Counting Commission.

c. Results. The voting results and other relevant materials are distributed to
shareholders, either at the end of the GMS or very soon after the GMS is held, as
well as to the general public by posting them on the Company’s internet site and
publishing them in the mass media in a timely manner.

2. (Minority) Shareholder Rights Protection

The Company has a system of registering shareholder complaints and effectively
regulating corporate disputes [through the Supervisory Board’s shareholder rela-
tions committee].

a. Supervisory Board representation. Minority shareholders have __ [number]
identifiable representatives on the Supervisory Board.”

b. External Registrar. The Company engages an independent External Regis-
trar to maintain the shareholder register. The Company ensures a reliable and
efficient ownership registration system of shares and other securities through the
selection and appointment of an independent External Registrar that has proper
technical equipment and an excellent reputation.

7 Good practice suggests that the Supervisory Board’s composition reflect the shareholding
structure, but that the Supervisory Board have at least one identifiable minority shareholder
representative.
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c. Takeover policy. The Company has a clearly articulated and enforceable
policy in place that protects the rights of minority shareholders in special circum-
stances, such as a change of control.

3. Related Party Transactions

The Company avoids related party transactions. When this is not possible, the
Company discloses all relevant information on related party transactions including
information on the affiliated parties and the affiliation of directors and members
of other governing bodies.

4. Dividend Policy

The Company has formally developed and follows a written dividend policy. This
dividend policy is publicly disclosed on the Company’s website.

The procedure for determining the amount of dividends on preferred shares
does not violate other shareholder rights. The Company’s dividend policy:

» Establishes a transparent, understandable, and predictable mechanism for
determining the amount of the dividends;

* Ensures that the dividend payment procedure is easy and efficient; and

* Provides for the complete and timely payment of declared dividends.

Part IV. Information Disclosure and Transparency

Transparency, and timely and accurate information disclosure is a key corporate
governance principle for the Company.

1. Disclosure Policies and Practices

The Company discloses and provides easy access to all material information, in-
cluding the financial situation, performance, ownership, and the governance
structure of the Company to shareholders free of charge. The Supervisory Board
prepares and approves a by-law on information disclosure and makes it publicly
available on the Company’s internet site. The Company publishes a comprehen-
sive annual report that includes a corporate governance section, and prepares
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other reports, such as the prospectus, quarterly reports, and material facts reports.
The Company discloses its corporate governance practices, corporate events cal-
endar, and other material information on its website in a timely manner.

The Company takes measures to protect confidential information as defined
in its by-law on information disclosure. Any information obtained by the Com-
pany’s employees and the members of the governing bodies may not be used for
their personal benefit.

2. Financial Reporting

The Company keeps records and prepares a full set of financial statements in ac-
cordance with Russian Accounting Standards. [In addition, the Company prepares
its accounts in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
[or U.S. GAAP] and discloses these in its regulatory filings, including the annual
report, and on the internet. ]

Detailed notes accompany financial statements so that the users of the state-
ments can properly interpret the Company’s financial performance. A management
discussion and analysis (MD&A), as well as the opinions of the External Auditor
and Revision Commission, shall complement all financial information.

[The company produces consolidated accounts when required by accounting
standards. ]

3. Internal Audit and Control

a. The Revision Commission. The Company’s Revision Commission is to
meet at least __ [number] times a year to carry out its duties as specified by law
and its by-laws. The Revision Commission shall consist of independent members,
of which at least __ [number] members are experienced financial experts. Its scope
of authority and activity goes beyond legislative requirements.®

b. The Internal Auditor. The Company has an Internal Auditor [or office of
the Internal Auditor] that is responsible for the daily internal control of the

8 Supervisory Board audit committees are becoming increasingly common internationally. Good
practice suggests that the Company strengthen the role of the Supervisory Board’s Audit
Committee and make sure that it complements the functions of the Revision Commission.
Good practice suggests that the Revision Commission meet at least four times per year, and
that it be composed of at least one financially literate member.
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Company’s finances and operations. The Internal Auditor is staffed by a highly
respected and reputable person[s], and reports to the Supervisory Board [or Audit
Committee] functionally and to the General Director administratively.®® The
Internal Auditor’s authority, composition, working procedures, and other relevant
matters are regulated in its by-law.

c. The Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is to
focus on three key areas: financial reporting, risk management, and internal and
external audit. This committee is to be chaired by an independent director and
composed of non-executive directors, each of which is recognized for his or her
financial literacy. Its exact authority, composition, working procedures, and
other relevant matters are regulated in its by-laws.

4. The External Audit

An External Auditor audits the Company’s financial statements. The External
Auditor is a publicly recognized independent auditing firm, where independent
means independence from the Company, the Company’s management, and major
shareholders. The Company ensures that the Audit partner is periodically rotated.
The remuneration of the auditor is disclosed to shareholders. The External Audi-
tor is selected by the GMS following an open tender and upon the recommenda-
tion of the Supervisory Board.

5. Ownership Structure

The Company ensures that beneficial owners of five percent or more of the vot-
ing shares are disclosed. Any corporate relations in case of groups of companies
are also clearly identifiable and disclosed to the public.

81 Good practice suggests that the Internal Auditor be a member of the Institute of Internal

Auditors (see also: http://www.iia-ru.ru).

n

IFC part 6.indd 71 @ 17.09.2004 11:24:12



Annex 5
A MODEL CODE OF ETHICS

IFC_part_6.indd 73

APPROVED
By decision of the Supervisory Board
of the Open Joint Stock Company « »

Supervisory Board Minutes
No.

of 200_

Signature of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board

dated this __day of , 200
[The Company’s Seal]

CORPORATE CODE OF ETHICS

of the Open Joint Stock Company

« »

The city of
, 200_

73

@ 17.09.2004 11:24:13



74

IFC_part_6.indd 74

®

The Russia Corporate Governance Manual

Table of Contents

PREAMBLE ...t ettt et e s tee et esreesteeeteesressneeenreesreeas 74

PART | THE COMPANY’S VALUES ...cvvveeeeeeeeeeete ettt 75

PART II. THE COMPANY’S ETHICAL PRINGIPLES......eveeeeeeeveeeeeereete e 75
ParT . ETHICAL STANDARDS FOR THE GOMPANY’S RELATIONSHIP WITH ITS

STAKEHOLDERS. ...t eveeeeeeeeteeteeeeetsereeneeeesessresnesneeseseresseeneens 76

1. Employees and OFfiCOrS..........cccouvoeeeeeeeeeiseeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeen 76

2. GUSTOMELS ...ttt 77

3. BUSINESS PAITNEIS ...t 78

4. GOVEITUTIENE ...ttt 78

5. Society and the Wider COMMUNILY .........ccoveeveeeeeeeeeeeeereeeerennn 79

PART IV, IMPLEMENTATION . ....veeveveeeeeeeeeeteeteee ettt ese e ene e 79

1. Means 10 OBLain AQVICE ..........oceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeennn 79

2. Processes and ReSPONSIDIlitY ............c.coceecveeeeeveiseeiiiseeeisiaieieann, 80

3. Training PrOGram .......cccooeeeeeeeeeeeeieeeeeeeeeeeee s 80

Preamble

The purpose of this Code of Ethics is to:

Commit the Open Joint Stock Company « » (hereinafter the

Company) to the highest standards of ethical behavior;

Encourage ethical conduct and sanction misconduct within the Company;

and

Develop an ethical culture within the Company that is based on such standards
and conduct, and that will be applied by directors, managers, and employees

alike.

By adopting, following, and updating this Code of Ethics on a regular basis,
together with the Company’s corporate governance code, charter, and by-laws, the
Company confirms its desire to demonstrably lead and promote good ethical
behavior. Ethics is not simply a question of obeying the law. Consequently, and
to foster the confidence of its shareholders, employees, investors, and the public,
this Code of Ethics goes beyond the legal and regulatory framework prevalent in
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Russia today. It embraces both national and internationally recognized principles
and practices.®

The Company’s governing bodies and employees understand this Code of
Ethics as their joint obligation, and obligate themselves to ensure that its spirit and
provisions are respected and acted upon throughout the Company [and its sub-
sidiaries and dependent companies].

This Code of Ethics is reviewed and updated on an annual basis and published
internally via the Company’s intranet site, as well as on the Company’s internet
site under www. Iu.

Part I. The Company's Values

In all internal and external relationships, the Company demonstrates its commit-
ment to [insert Company’s values]:*

*  Obey the Law;
. ; and

Part Il. The Company’s Ethical Principles

The Company is committed to act ethically in all aspects of its business.
The Company’s ethical standards are based on the following principles:

* Honesty;

* Integrity;

e Fairness; and
* Transparency.

82 This ethics code was prepared using the “Basic Guidelines for Codes of Business Conduct”
as a resource guide. A copy of these guidelines can be obtained in “Business Ethics: A Manual
for Managing a Responsible Business Enterprice in Emerging Market Economies” and found
under www.mac.doc.gov/ggp. Internationally recognized principles include, among others,
the Sullivan Principles (www.globalsullivanprinciples.org), UN Principles on Corporate Ethics
(www.unglobalcompact.org), Coalition for Environmentally Responsible Economies (www.
ceres.org), ILO standards on labor issues (www.ilo.org), the OECD Conventions on Bribery
and Corruption, and OECD Guidelines for Multi-national Enterprises (www.oecd.org).

8 Company values often focus on delivering quality products and services; leadership (in terms
of innovation, and research and development); promoting shareholder value; protecting the
environment; satisfying customers; acting with honesty, integrity, and respect for people; etc.
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Similarly, the Company expects the same in its relationships with all those
with whom it does business.

The Company’s ethical standards focus on the following shareholders: employ-
ees, customers, business partners, government, society, and the community at
large.®* These ethical standards shall also apply to all business areas [for all sub-
sidiaries and dependent companies both within and outside of Russia].

The Company’s ethical standards are based on:

* Respecting the rule of law, and Russian laws and regulations;

* Respecting human rights;

* Conducting business with integrity and fairness, renouncing bribery and
corruption or similar unacceptable business practices, and not giving or ac-
cepting gifts and entertainment unless they fall under business custom, and
are immaterial and infrequent;

+ Creating mutual advantage in all the Company’s relationships;

* Building and fostering trust; and

* Demonstrating respect for the community the Company operates in, as well
as for the environment.

The Company shall develop specific, measurable targets for improving ethical
behavior.

Part lll. Ethical Standards for the Company’s Relationship with its
Stakeholders®

1. Employees and Officers

The Company values its employees as the keystone to success. The Company is
thus committed to treating all employees with dignity, trust, and respect, and to

8 A company’s areas of focus will depend largely on the industry in which it operates and its
business sector. Thus, a company in the banking sector may wish to focus on issues different
than those of a company in the oil sector (e.g. financial control, insider trading, and/or money
laundering vs. environmental protection). Areas of focus can be structured around topics
and/or relationships. Topics include health, safety, and environmental concerns; bribery and
corruption; legality; conflicts of interest; human rights; gifts and entertainment; control and
finance; etc. Relationships can include relations with employees, customers, business partners,
suppliers, joint-venture partners, etc.

% Among the company’s stakeholders are its shareholders. Shareholders are not treated explicitly
in this document since shareholder issues are addressed more fully in the context of corporate
governance. Detailed guidance can be found in other Annexes of this Manual.
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building a long-term relationship based on Russian labor law and the respect of
human rights.

The Company will not employ child labor.

It is the Company’s policy to provide for and regularly improve upon a healthy,
safe, and secure working environment for its employees.

Conflicts of interests can actually, or at least can appear to, compromise the
judgment or objectivity of the Company’s employees and officers. Conflicts of
interest are to be avoided. To the extent that they cannot be avoided, employees
and officers should inform supervisors and take themselves out of the decision-
making process with respect to the conflict of interests.

The Company is an equal opportunity employer. Its recruitment, promotion,
and compensation policy is based on merit and is free of discrimination. Clear
and transparent policies have been developed and put into practice.

Discrimination or harassment at the workplace will not be tolerated. Charges
of discrimination or harassment will be thoroughly investigated and dealt with by
the relevant officer within the Company [Company’s ethics officer and/or the
Supervisory Board’s ethics committee].

Employees are recognized and rewarded for their performance, based on per-
formance objectives, and constructive and regular feedback through face-to-face
meetings.

The Company has in place a training program, accessible to all employees,
which encourages individuals to formulate personal development plans and provides
for coaching, mentoring, and formal skill-enhancing training.

The Company prohibits the use of confidential and insider information by all
officers and employees, and has developed a detailed procedure to effectively deal
with insider trading and insider information.

In the interests of transparency, the Company has regular communications
and holds consultations with employees regarding such topics as employment
conditions and other issues that may affect the interests of employees.

2. Customers
Customer satisfaction is an overriding concern of the Company. Safe, high qual-
ity products and services, fair pricing, and appropriate after-sales service define

the Company’s relations with its customers.
The Company always seeks to deliver on its promises.
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3. Business Partners

The Company believes that a long-term relationship with its business partners
(suppliers, contractors, participants in joint ventures, and ) founded
on respect, trust, honesty, and fairness is vital to its success.
The Company will encourage its business partners to share its ethical standards.
The Company will fulfill its contractual obligations and respect its business
relations. Thus:

» Contractual negotiations shall be conducted based on mutual respect and
benefit;
* Business relations shall be based on high performance standards, deliver-
ing in a timely and qualitative manner, prompt settlement of bills, and
; and
* In case of a commercial dispute, the Company will negotiate in good faith to
arrive at a consensus and a fair solution.

The Company is committed to complying fully with the Russian Law on
Anti-money Laundering and only conducts business with reputable suppliers,
business customers, and other partners who are involved in legitimate business
activities and whose funds are derived from legitimate sources.

4. Government

The Company will pay its taxes in full and in a timely manner.

The Company abides by all federal and regional regulations, including volun-
tary codes and guidelines such as the Federal Commission for the Securities
Market’s Code of Corporate Conduct (FCSM Code), and adheres to both the let-
ter and the spirit of such codes and guidelines.

The Company has legally obtained the licenses required to do business.

The Company seeks to build and manage a sound relationship with govern-
mental authorities on an arm’s length basis. No attempts to improperly influence
governmental decisions shall be made, and the Company will not offer, pay, so-
licit, or accept bribes in any form or shape, either directly or indirectly, in its
dealings with the government, administration, or courts. Transparent procedures
regarding transactions engaged in by the Company with any government agency
or official, or in dealings with any company owned or controlled by a government
agency or official, shall be established to this end.
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9. Society and the Wider Community

The Company views itself as an integral part of the community in which it oper-
ates and is committed to a sound relationship built on respect, trust, honesty, and
fairness.

The Company is committed to creating jobs and developing local talent when
this is economically possible.

The preservation of the environment is of great importance to the Company.
The Company strives to minimize the environmental impact from its activities by
reducing waste, emissions, and discharges, and by using energy efficiently. All
operations and activities will be carried out according to the highest standards of
care and in line with internationally recognized principles.*

The Company is committed to help the local community through a variety of
charities and foundations, educational organizations, and similar institutions

Non-governmental Organizations (NGOs) are a key element to any society and
the Company seeks to build constructive relationships with such organizations to build
a better society, and maintain a cleaner and safer environment for all.

The Company promises to discuss and consider the specific developmental
needs of the communities in which it operates, through a process of regular, open
dialogue.

Part IV. Implementation

1. Means to Obtain Advice

Many business decisions are complex and may involve dilemmas that require
judgment to make an ethical choice. In cases of uncertainty, all officers and
employees are expected to act responsibly and raise the ethical dilemma with their
managers. Should this not lead to a satisfactory solution, the ethical issue can be
raised with an ethics officer to obtain clarification. All officers and employees
have the right to consult directly with an ethics officer [and/or the Supervisory
Board’s ethics committee] who, in turn, shall advise and take action in accord with
the values contained in this Ethics Code.

% For example, ISO 14000 on Environmental Management, as developed by the International
Organization for Standardization (www.iso.ch).
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Questions or concerns can be addressed by e-mail to ethics@companyname.ru,
or by phone, fax, or regular mail to the Company’s ethics officer:

Last Name, First Name, Patronymic
Tel.: (ext.)

Fax:

Address:

E-Mail:

2. Processes and Responsibility

Each individual is responsible for his or her ethical behavior. Adherence to the
Code of Ethics is made obligatory for all employees, and is incorporated into all
employee contracts by reference, and linked to all disciplinary procedures.
Department heads are accountable to the General Director and/or the Execu-
tive Board for implementing this Code of Ethics within their departments, ensur-
® ing that all officers and employees understand it, and for providing assurances
that they are operating according to the standards set by this Ethics Code. The
General Director and/or the Executive Board are to provide the same assurances
to the Supervisory Board. The principles and provisions in this Code of Ethics
have been integrated into the Company’s internal control system. Rigorous and
objective processes to measure performance, identify shortcomings and gaps, and
implement measures to address such ethical shortcoming and gaps, are regularly
reviewed and modified as necessary.
The Supervisory Board’s Ethics Committee [if established] periodically reviews
and updates these principles, reviews the extent to which its standards are applied
in practice, and formulates proposals for the Supervisory Board’s approval.

3. Training Program

The Company offers a training course in ethics for all new directors, managers,
and employees. This course offers practical examples and applications of this
Code of Ethics.

Periodic and specialized training courses are offered to officers and employees,
as part of the Company’s continuous professional education program.
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Article 1. General Provisions

1.1.  This By-law on the Supervisory Board (hereinafter the By-law) of the Open
Joint Stock Company « » (hereinafter the Company)
has been developed in accordance with the legislation of the Russian Fed-
eration (hereinafter the Law), the Company charter, and the recommenda-
tions of the Federal Commission for the Security Market’s Code of Corpo-

rate Conduct (hereinafter the FCSM Code).

1.2.  The By-law shall regulate the Supervisory Board’s authority; the rights, du-
ties, and responsibilities of the Supervisory Board and its members; Board
composition; term of office of Supervisory Board members (hereinafter
directors); procedures for the election of directors, including their nomina-
tion; the Supervisory Board’s working procedures and its relationship with
the other governing bodies of the Company; Board structure, including
committees; director liability; remuneration; as well as procedures for the

dismissal of directors prior to the expiration of their term of office.
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1.3.

1.4.

The Supervisory Board shall act in accordance with the Law, the Company
charter, the By-law and other internal corporate documents.

The relationship between the Company and its directors is regulated by civil
law contracts to be signed by the Chairman of the General Meeting of Share-
holders (hereinafter the GMS) on behalf of the Company.*”

Article 2. Authority

2.1.

2.2.

2.3.

IFC_part_6.indd 85

The Supervisory Board is a governing body of the Company responsible
for setting the Company’s strategy and business piorities, as well as guiding
and controlling managerial performance, and for making decisions on mat-
ters that do not fall under the authority of the GMS.

The authority of the Supervisory Board in the area of strategic governance
shall include:

2.2.1.  Guiding, setting, and monitoring the Company’s strategy and
business priorities, including the annual financial and business
plans of the Company upon the recommendation of the Executive
Board;

2.2.2.  Appointing and managing the performance of the General Director
[and, upon his recommendation, the Executive Board members of
the Company];®

2.2.3.  Establishing and liquidating branches and representative offices, [and
approving the by-laws of branches and representative offices];

2.2.4. Defining the list of additional documents that shall be kept by the
Company;

2.2.5. Preparing the report on compliance with the FCSM Code.

The authority of the Supervisory Board in the area of preparing and con-
ducting the GMS shall include:

2.3.1.  Deciding on the form of the GMS (physical presence of shareholders
or written consent);

8 This could be the Chairman of the General Meeting of Shareholders, who is often the Chairman

of the previous Supervisory Board.

8 1JSC, Article 65, Clause. 9, Paragraph 2 provides that under the charter of a company the

Supervisory Board may have the powers to establish executive bodies and dismiss its members
prior to termination of their term of office.
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2.3.2.  Determining the date, place, and the starting time of the GMS,
beginning and ending the registration of shareholders, and postal
address to which completed voting ballots must be sent;

2.3.3.  Determining the date for preparing the list of persons entitled to
participate in the GMS;

2.3.4. Approving the agenda for the GMS;

2.3.5.  Setting procedures for the notification of shareholders about the
GMS;

2.3.6. Determining the list of information (materials) to be made available
for shareholders during the preparation for the GMS and the pro-
cedures for providing access to such information;

2.3.7.  Approving the form and the text of the voting ballot;

2.3.8. Determining the class(es) of preferred shares the owners of which
have the right to vote on separate agenda items;

2.3.9. Calling the AGM,;

2.3.10. Reviewing the shareholder proposals to the agenda of the GMS and
the candidates to the elective positions in the Company;

2.3.11. Putting items to the agenda of the GMS irrespective of the items

® proposed by the shareholders;

2.3.12. Including candidates in the list of candidates for election to the
Supervisory Board, the Revision Commission, and the Counting
Commission in case of the absence or insufficient number of can-
didates proposed by shareholders;

2.3.13. Calling an Extraordinary General Meeting of Sharefolders (EGM)
at the request of the Revision Commission, External Auditor, as
well as shareholders holding not less than 10% of voting shares;

2.3.14. Reviewing proposals on calling an EGM and making a decision
on calling or refusing to call such EGM within five days after the
receipt of the request;

2.3.15. Notifying the interested parties of the decision to call an EGM or
of the motivated refusal not later than three days after making such
decision;

2.3.16. Calling an EGM in case any one of the directors ceases to be
independent as defined by clause 3.10 herein, in cases when, as
a result of this, the number of independent directors on the
Supervisory Board becomes less than is set forth by the char-
ter;
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2.3.17. Providing shareholders with access to information to be made avail-
able for the GMS, including at the location of most major groups
of shareholders;

2.3.18. Proposing the following issues for the GMS’ consideration (based
on the recommendation of the Supervisory Board):*

2.3.18.1.

2.3.18.2.

2.3.18.3.

2.3.18.4.

2.3.18.5.
2.3.18.6.
2.3.18.7.
2.3.18.8.

2.3.18.9.

2.3.18.10.

The reorganization of the Company, the form of such
reorganization, and other issues related to the Company’s
reorganization;

The liquidation of the Company, appointment of the
Liquidation Commission and approval of the relevant
documents;

The delegation of the General Director’s powers to an
External Manager;

The recommendation on the amount of dividends to be
distributed to shareholders, as well as the procedures for
their distribution;

The approval of the annual report;

The increase of the charter capital;

Splitting and consolidating shares;

The approval of extraordinary transactions involving
assets the total value of which is in excess of 50% of the
book value of the Company’s assets, or transactions
involving assets the total value of which ranges from 25
to 50% of the book value of the Company’s assets, un-
less the Supervisory Board has reached a consensus on
approving such a transaction;

The approval of related party transactions in cases where
the Supervisory Board may not approve such a transaction
due to the fact that all members are related parties and/or
are not independent directors, as well as in cases where
the number of disinterested directors is less than the quo-
rum for a Board meeting as specifield in the charter;
The buyback by the Company of its own shares;”

8 Articles 2.3.18.6-2.3.18.13 are only applicable if provided for in the company charter.

% If the charter provides that decisions on the purchase of the company’s shares shall be made

by the GMS.
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2.3.18.11. The participation in holding companies, financial and
industrial groups, and other groupings of commercial
organizations;

2.3.18.12. The approval of by-laws for the Supervisory Board,
GMS, Executive Bodies, Revision Commission, as well
as by-laws regulating the Company’s other bodies;
and

2.3.18.13. The remuneration of Revision Commission members
and the External Auditor’s fee.

2.3.19. Issuing a preliminary approval of the annual report of the Company;
and

2.3.20. Drafting and approving the annual report of the Supervisory Board
on the Company’s business priorities to be included in the annual
report.

2.4.  The authority of the Supervisory Board in the area of securities and assets
shall include:

2.4.1. Approving reports on the results of a share buyback by the
Company for decreasing the charter capital by retiring such
shares;

2.4.2.  Deciding on non-convertible bonds issue;

2.4.3. Deciding on purchasing bonds issued by the Company in cases
specified by the Charter;

2.44. Determining the monetary value of assets, issue price, and redemp-
tion price of securities;

2.4.5. Making available to shareholders the list of assets to be used
as payment for shares and the report on valuation of such as-
sets if the agenda of the AGM includes an item on placement
of additional shares, payment for which is to be made in
kind;

2.4.6. Recommending to the GMS the amount and procedures for the
payment of dividends;

2.4.7.  Deciding on the use of the reserve and other funds of the Company;

2.4.8. Approving extraordinary transactions in cases specified by the Law
and the charter of the Company;
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2.4.9. Approving transactions involving assets the total value of which
exceeds __ % of the book value of the Company’s assets;’!

2.4.10. Approving related party transactions in cases specified by the Law
and the charter of the Company.

The authority of the Supervisory Board in the area of its working procedures
and supervision of executive bodies and the External Registrar of the Com-
pany shall include:

2.5.1.  Establishing permanent and/or interim Supervisory Board commit-
tees;

2.5.2. Developing criteria for evaluating directors’ performance.

2.5.3.  Authorizing directors or other persons to sign employment contracts
with the General Director, Executive Board members, and the Cor-
porate Secretary on behalf of the Company;

2.5.4. Determining the terms of employment contracts, including the
remuneration of the General Director and Executive Board members,
as well as the Corporate Secretary of the Company;

2.5.5. Suspending the powers of the External Manager;

2.5.6. Calling an EGM to approve the decision on dismissal of the Exter-
nal Manager and the transfer of the General Director’s powers to
a new External Manager;

2.5.7.  Consenting the General Director and Executive Board members to
hold positions in the governing bodies of other companies;

2.5.8. Holding the General Director and Executive Board members
liable, including for incomplete or delayed payment of divi-
dends, as well as for refusing to provide documents and infor-
mation to the Supervisory Board in cases specified by the
By-law;

2.5.9. Requesting minutes of Executive Board meetings;

2.5.10. Recommending to the GMS the remuneration of Revision Com-
mission members, as well as the External Auditor’s fees;

2.5.11. Requesting an extraordinary inspection of financial and business
operations of the Company by the Revision Commission;

FCSM Code, Chapter 4, Section 1.1.3. Recommends that transactions, the total value of which
is in excess of 10% of the book value of the company’s assets, be approved by the Supervisory
Board.
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2.5.12. Requesting oral or written reports, as well as any documents and in-
formation necessary for it to perform its functions, from the General
Director and Executive Board members;

2.5.13. Approving the External Registrar of the Company and the terms
of contract with the Registrar, and terminating such contract;

2.5.14. Appointing and dismissing the Corporate Secretary;

2.5.15. Approving the following internal corporate documents:

2.5.15.1. By-law on Risk Management;

2.5.15.2. By-law on Information Policy;

2.5.15.3. By-law for the Corporate Secretary;

2.5.15.4. By-law on Branches and Representative Offices;

2.5.15.5. List of confidential and insider information;

2.5.15.6. Procedures for internal control over financial and business
operations of the Company;

2.5.15.7. Other internal documents of the Company, other than those
to be approved by the GMS or executive bodies in accor-
dance with the requirements of the charter;

2.5.16. Making decisions on approval of transactions outside the financial
and business plan (non-standard transactions).

2.6. Issues falling within the competence of the Supervisory Board may not be
delegated to the General Director or the Executive Board.

2.7.  Directors shall have the right to receive from the executive bodies and heads
of the main structural units of the Company all information necessary for
them to perform their duties.

Article 3. Composition

3.1.  The Supervisory Board shall have __ members.”
3.2.  Only individuals may be eligible to be elected to the Supervisory Board. An
individual who is not a shareholder may also be eligible.

92

LJSC, Article 66, Clause 3 provides that the number of directors may be specified by the
charter or the decision of the GMS subject to the requirements of the Company Law. The
Supervisory Board of companies with more than 1,000 holders of voting shares shall consist
of at least seven members, and the Supervisory Board of companies with more than 10,000
holders of voting shares shall have at least nine members.
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3.3.  Persons elected to the Supervisory Board may be re-elected an unlimited
number of times.

3.4. Directors may not hold directorships in more than other compa-
nies.”

3.5.  Supervisory Board member may not be a partner, General Director (Exter-
nal Manager), member of the governing body or employee of a legal entity
competing with the Company.”

3.6. A person that has been found guilty of committing an economic offence,
or offence against governmental and/or local authorities, or a person on
whom administrative penalties were imposed for offences related to busi-
ness, finance, taxes, and duties, or securities market operations, may not be
elected to the Supervisory Board.

3.7.  Members of the Revision Commission and the Corporate Secretary may not
at the same time be directors.

3.8. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board shall head the Supervisory Board.

3.9. Executive Board members and any other executives may not account for
more than one quarter of directors.

3.10. Not less than one third of the total number of directors shall be independent
directors. Under the definition set forth in the Charter, the following per-
sons shall be considered independent:”

3.10.1. Who were not over the past three years, and are not, the officers
(managers) or the employees of the Company, or officers or em-
ployees of the External Manager;

3.10.2. 'Who were not over the past three years, and are not, officers of
another company in which any of the officers of the Company is
a member of the Supervisory Board’s Nominations and Remu-
neration Committee;

3.10.3. Who were not over the past three years, and are not, affiliated
persons of an officer (manager) of the Company (officer of the
External Manager);”

% Not more than five directorships may be considered as best practice.

94

The “competing company” can be defined by analogy with Civil Code, Article 73, Clause 3.

% The definition of the term “independent director” is included in accordance with the

recommendations of the FCSM Code, Chapter 3, Section 2.2.2. See also: Annex 18.

% See the definition of affiliated persons in the Law on Competition and Restriction of

Monopolistic Operations in the Commodity Markets, Article 4.
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3.10.4. 'Who were not over the past three years, and are not, affiliated persons
of the Company, or affiliated persons of such affiliated persons;

3.10.5. Who are not bound by contractual relations with the Company, where-
by they may acquire property (receive cash funds) having value in excess
of 10% of such persons’ aggregate annual income, other than through
receipt of remuneration for their work on the Supervisory Board;

3.10.6. Who were not over the past three years, and are not, major business
partners of the Company (the annual total value of transactions
with which is in excess of 10% of the total book value of the
Company’s assets); and

3.10.7.  Who were not over the past three years, and are not, representatives
of the government.

3.11. Anindependent director who has served on the Supervisory Board of the Com-
pany for a period of over seven years may not be considered independent.

Article 4. Term of Office

4.1. The Supervisory Board shall be elected for the period until the next AGM.

4.2.  The newly elected Supervisory Board shall enter into office, and the previ-
ous Board shall resign, from the date of signing by the Counting Commis-
sion of the voting results minutes.

4.3. If the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders (AGM) was not held with-
in the timeframe established by the charter, the powers of the Supervisory
Board shall be terminated with the exception of the powers to prepare, call,
and conduct the GMS.

Article 5. Nomination

5.1.  Only shareholders owning at least 2% of voting shares on the date of the
proposal shall have the right to make nominations to the Supervisory
Board.

5.2. The Company shall receive proposals from the shareholders within ___
calendar days of the end of the fiscal year.”

7 The company shall receive such proposals within 30 days upon completion of the fiscal year

unless the company’s charter provides for a longer period (LJSC, Article 53, Clause 1).
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5.3.  The Supervisory Board shall have the right to add candidates to the list of
potential Supervisory Board members if an insufficient number of candidates
hase been nominated by shareholders.

5.4. The proposal nominating candidates to the Supervisory Board shall not
include candidates in excess of the number of directors set forth in the
Company’s charter.

5.5. The candidates can be nominated by:

5.5.1. Registered mail sent to (address) and the attention

of: [position of person in charge of receiving proposals];
or
5.5.2. Hand delivery against receipt to [the Secretary of the

Supervisory Board or the Corporate Secretary, if any, or other person
authorized to receive written correspondence].

5.6. The nomination date shall be established pursuant to the require-
ments for preparing, calling, and conducting the GMS set forth by the
FCSM.

5.7.  The nomination proposal shall be made in writing and shall include:

5.7.1.  Last, first, and middle name of each proposed candidate, and the
date of birth;

5.7.2.  Name of the body for which candidates are nominated (the Super-
visory Board);

5.7.3.  Name(s) of the shareholder(s) submitting the proposal;

5.7.4. Number, types, and classes of shares held by the submitting share-
holder(s);

5.7.5.  Education received, including continuing professional education
(name of educational establishment, date of completion, education
received);

5.7.6. Professional experience, including positions held for the past
___ years, management positions occupied by the candidate in
the governing bodies of other legal entities for the recent _
years;*

% FCSM Code, Chapter 3, Section 2.3.1 recommends a five-year period.
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5.7.7.  List of legal entities in which the candidate participates or has an
interest, including the number of shares or units held in the char-
ter capital of such legal entity;

5.7.8.  List of persons with whom the candidate is affiliated, and the basis
for such affiliation;

5.7.9. Relation of the candidate to the affiliated persons and major coun-
ter-parties of the Company, and the statement of candidate’s af-
filiation with the Company;

5.7.10. Statement of any previous convictions and administrative dis-
qualifications;

5.7.11. ; and

5.7.12.

5.8.  Such proposal shall also contain the agreement of the candidate to be elected.

5.9. The proposal shall be signed by the shareholder or by proxy. If the proxy
signs the proposal, the power of attorney shall be attached.

5.10. The Supervisory Board shall review the submitted proposals and decide
whether the nominees are to be included into the list of candidates for elec-

® tion to the Supervisory Board within five days upon expiration of the pe-
riod set forth in Clause 5.2 hereof.

5.11. A grounded decision of the Company’s Supervisory Board to refuse a
nominee in the list of candidates shall be sent to the nominating shareholder(s)
within three days following the relevant decision.

5.12. The nominees shall be included in the list of candidates except when:

5.12.1. The shareholder(s) failed to observe the timeline set forth in Clause
5.2 hereof;

5.12.2. The shareholder(s) does not hold the requisite number of Compa-
ny’s voting shares set forth in Clause 5.1 hereof;

5.12.3. The proposal does not meet the requirements of Clause 5.7 hereof;
and

5.12.4. The matter proposed for inclusion in the agenda of the GMS is not
in the jurisdiction of the GMS and/or does not meet the require-
ments of the law.

5.13. A candidate to the Supervisory Board shall have the right to withdraw before
he is included in the list of candidates.

94
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Article 6. Election and Dismissal

6.1.  Directors shall be elected by cumulative voting. Each voting share shall
grant to the holder thereof the number of votes equal to the number of
Supervisory Board members set forth in the charter. A shareholder may
cast all his votes for one candidate or distribute the votes among several
candidates at his own discretion.

6.2. The candidates for whom the largest number of votes is cast shall be deemed
elected to the Supervisory Board.

6.3. In connection with the elections to the Supervisory Board the shareholders
shall be provided with information on:*

6.3.1.  The shareholder/group of shareholders proposing such candi-
date;

6.3.2.  The candidate’s age and education;

6.3.3.  Professional experience, including positions held during the past
five years;

6.3.4. The position held as of the moment of nomination;

6.3.5.  The nature of the candidate’s relations with the Company;

6.3.6. The candidate’s directorships and other positions held by the can-
didate in other legal entities;

6.3.7. Nominations to the Supervisory Board or to positions in governing
bodies of other legal entities;

6.3.8. The candidate’s relations with the Company’s affiliates;

6.3.9. The candidate’s relations with the Company’s major contrac-
tors;

6.3.10. The candidate’s status and other circumstances which may affect
his ability to perform his duties as a director; and

6.3.11. The candidate’s refusal to provide information requested by the
Company.

6.4. The GMS may dismiss the Supervisory Board prior to the expiration of its
term of office. The GMS may make such decision only with regard to all
directors.

» FCSM Code, Chapter 3, Section 2.3.1.
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6.5. In case of dismissing the Supervisory Board prior to the expiration of its
term of office, the newly elected directors shall be in office until the elec-
tion of the new Supervisory Board at the next AGM.

6.6. In case of resignation of any directors, such director shall remain liable
under the laws of the Russian Federation. Such director shall inform the
Supervisory Board of his intention to resign in writing at least __ month(s)
in advance.'”

6.7. In case the number of directors becomes less than the number required to
constitute a quorum under the provisions of Clause 8.11 hereof, the Super-
visory Board shall make a decision to call an EGM to elect a new Supervi-
sory Board. The remaining directors shall not have the right to make any
decisions other than calling such EGM.

Article 7. The Chairman

7.1.  The Chairman of the Supervisory Board (hereinafter the Chairman) shall
be elected by the directors from among themselves by a majority vote of
all elected directors.

7.2.  The person acting as the General Director [or another executive] of
the Company may not be elected the Chairman.

7.3.  The Supervisory Board shall have the right to dismiss and re-elect its Chair-
man at any time by a majority vote of all the elected directors.

7.4. The Chairman shall:

7.4.1.  Organize the work of the Supervisory Board, ensuring conditions
for the free exchange of opinions by all directors, and open discus-
sion of agenda items;

7.4.2.  Arrange for a fixed schedule and call Supervisory Board meetings,
prepare the agenda for and preside over the meetings, as well as
organize voting by written consent of the directors in accordance
with the provisions of the charter;

7.4.3. Organize meeting minutes [and transcripts] and sign the min-
utes;

1% This rule applies only when a civil agreement is made with the member of the Supervisory

Board.
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7.4.4.

7.4.5.

7.4.6.

7.4.7.

7.4.8.

7.4.9.

7.4.10.

7.4.11.

7.4.12.

Not later than days after the receipt of a proposal on the
nomination of candidates for the position of General Director and
Executive Board members, request information about the existence
of any criminal offense or administrative penalties imposed on such
candidates;

Sign the employment contracts with the General Director and
Executive Board members on behalf of the Company, unless this
right has been delegated to other person(s) by the Supervisory Board,
not later than days after the Counting Commission signs the
minutes on the voting results;

Ensure for efficient decision-making on all agenda items, includ-
ing sufficient background materials, proper discussions, and vot-
ing;

Provide all directors with the information necessary for the meet-
ings in a timely manner, but not less than __ week(s) before the
meeting;'?!

Establish Supervisory Board committees, nominate directors to such
committees, and coordinate the relations between the committees
and the officers and executives of the Company;

Maintain regular contact with the other bodies and officers of the
Company, namely, the General Director and other key execu-
tives;

Receive written proposals of shareholders on calling an EGM and
nominating candidates to the governing bodies of the Compa-
ny;

Preside over the GMS except when, under the law, persons and
bodies calling the GMS have the right to appoint the Chairman of
the GMS; and

Prepare reports on the activities of the Supervisory Board for the
year to be included in the annual report of the Company.

In case of the absence of the Chairman, another director shall perform his
functions by the Supervisory Board’s decision, made by a majority vote of
directors participating in the meeting.

Good practice indicates between ten and 15 days.
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Article 8. Meetings

8.1.  Supervisory Board meetings shall be convened by the Chairman on his
own initiative as required, but at least once every (number of
weeks or months],'” as well as upon request of:

8.1.1. A director;

8.1.2. The Revision Commission;

8.1.3. The External Auditor;

8.1.4. The General Director;

8.1.5. An Executive Board member;

8.1.6.  Shareholder(s) — owner(s) of at least 2% of voting shares. Share-
holders shall have the right to demand that a meeting be convened
only to discuss issues that may be proposed for consideration by
the GMS on the recommendation of the Supervisory Board, calling
the AGM and EGM, as well as approval of transactions that require
approval by the Supervisory Board.'®

® 8.2.  The request of the person initiating the meeting of the Supervisory Board
shall be made in writing by registered mail to the address of the Company
or handed to the Corporate Secretary.

8.3.  The date of the request to call a Supervisory Board meeting shall be deter-
mined by the cancellation stamp, or the date of receipt of the request by
the Corporate Secretary.

8.4. The request shall be signed by the director who requests the calling of the
meeting, or by the General Director, the Chairman of the Revision Com-
mission, the External Auditor, or the person representing the shareholder(s)
requesting such meeting.

8.5. The request shall contain:

8.5.1.  The name of the person requesting the meeting;
8.5.2.  Wording of the agenda items; and
8.5.3. Form of the meeting.

12 FCSM Code, Chapter 3, Section 4.2.1 recommends holding Supervisory Board meetings at
least once every six weeks.

13 FCSM Code, Chapter 3, Section 4.13.
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8.6.  Within days after the receipt of the request, the Chairman shall call
the Supervisory Board meeting.

8.7. In case of unjustified refusal or inability of the Chairman to call the Su-
pervisory Board meeting, any other director may call such meeting.

8.8. Notice on the date, place, and time of the Supervisory Board meeting, to-
gether with the agenda of the meeting and the information on procedures
for reviewing materials and information required to prepare for the meeting,
shall be sent by registered mail or delivered to every director and the person
who requested the meeting in cases when the meeting is called at the request
of persons listed in Clause 8.1. hereof not later than [10] days before
the date of the meeting. The date of the notice shall be the date of the can-
cellation stamp or the date of delivery of the notice.

8.9. The first Supervisory Board meeting shall be held not later than
month(s) after the election of the Supervisory Board.'™

8.10. The agenda of the first meting shall include the following items:

8.10.1. FElection of the Chairman;

8.10.2. Determining business priorities of the Company;
8.10.3. Establishing committees of the Supervisory Board;
8.10.4. Determining independent directors.

8.10.5 ; and

8.10.6.

8.11. Supervisory Board meetings shall include a full set of relevant materials to
be prepared by the Corporate Secretary and relevant executives.

8.11.1. The Supervisory Board materials shall include an executive sum-
mary highlighting the main issues, including risks and consequences
of inaction, and offer practical solutions. Detailed information
shall be included in the Annexes.

8.11.2. Materials for Supervisory Board meetings shall include:

8.11.2.1. The company’s financial and non-financial key perfor-
mance indicators, as set by the Supervisory Board and
prepared by the General Director;

8.11.2.2. A full set of financial information;

1% Good practices suggests one month. This meeting is often held right after the AGM.
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8.11.2.3. Minutes and recommendations from the last Supervisory
Board meeting;

8.11.2.4. Marketing and sales figures;

8.11.2.5. Production data;

8.11.2.6. The report of the Internal Auditor; and

8.11.2.7.

8.12. The quorum for the Supervisory Board meetings shall be
[not less than half] of all directors. This number shall include at least two
directors none of whom is the General Director or an Executive Board
member.

8.13. For the purposes of voting at the meetings, each director shall have one
vote.

8.14. The transfer of votes from one director to another, as well as transfer of
votes to any other person by the power of attorney shall not be permit-
ted.

8.15. The Chairman shall have the right to cast a decisive vote in case of a tie
vote.

8.16. Decisions of the Supervisory Board shall be made by a simple majority vote
of directors who participated in the meeting, including absentee voting,
unless otherwise provided herein and in the Company’s charter.

8.17. The Supervisory Board shall make decisions on the following issues by
a three-forths majority vote of directors who participated in the meet-

ing:

8.17.1. 5
8.17.2. ; and
8.17.3. ;

8.18. Decisions on the placement of bonds by the Company, with the exception
of convertible bonds, as well as approval of major transactions involving
assets the total value of which ranges from 25 to 50% of the book value
of the Company’s assets, shall be made by unanimous decision of all the
directors without taking into account the votes of retired Board mem-
bers.

8.19. Decisions on the approval of other transactions made by the Company, as
set forth by the charter, with the exception of the transactions made in the
ordinary course of business, shall be made by the unanimous decision of

100
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all the directors without taking into account the votes of retired Board
members.

8.20. Decisions on approval of related party transactions shall be made by a ma-
jority vote of independent directors who are not interested parties in such
transactions as defined in the law. When all directors are interested parties
and/or are not independent, the decision on approving such transactions
shall be made by the GMS.

8.21. Decisions on the approval of the contractual terms with the General Direc-
tor and/or Executive Board members shall be made by the majority vote of
directors participating in the meeting. The General Director and Executive
Board members shall not vote on such issues.

8.22. The Supervisory Board may make decisions at the meetings held in the form
of joint attendance, or joint attendance taking into account written opinions
of the absent directors, for the purposes of establishing quorum of the
meeting and the results of the voting, as well as by absentee voting.

8.23. Notice about the meeting shall be made in accordance with the provisions
of Clause 8.8 hereof.

8.24. The notice shall consist of two parts.

8.25. The first part of the notice shall contain the following information:

8.25.1. Full legal name and location of the Company;

8.25.2. Date, place, and time of the meeting;

8.25.3. Agenda of the meeting;

8.25.4. Information about the procedures for review, the materials and
information required for preparing the meeting, or the list of the
attached materials.

8.26. The second part of the notice (written opinion) shall contain the follow-
ing:

8.26.1. Postal address to which the written opinion should be mailed;

8.26.2. Deadline for the acceptance of written opinions;

8.26.3. Wording of decisions on each item of the agenda;

8.26.4. Voting options on each item: “for”, “against”, “abstained”;

8.26.5. Space for formulating the written opinion of the director on each
item of the agenda;

8.26.6. Space for signature of the director with the reminder that the sig-

nature is mandatory.
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8.27. The second part of the notice may be sent to the Supervisory Board by
registered mail, courier, or delivered to the Corporate Secretary personally
by the director or his representative.

8.28. Decisions on conducting the Supervisory Board meeting by absentee vote
shall be made by the Chairman or the person requesting the extraordinary
meeting.

8.29. The following decisions may not be made by absentee vote:

8.29.1. Approval of business priorities and the financial and business plan
of the Company;

8.29.2. Calling of the AGM and decisions necessary for its calling and
conducting;

8.29.3. Preliminary approval of the annual report of the Company;

8.29.4. Calling or refusal to call an EGM;

8.29.5. Flection, dismissal, and re-election of the Chairman;

8.29.6. Election and dismissal of the executive bodies of the Company [if
these decisions fall within the authority of the Supervisory Board
under the charter];

8.29.7. Recommendations to the GMS on the reorganization or the liquida-
tion of the Company.

8.29.8. ; and

8.29.9. ;

8.30. The ballot for absentee voting signed by the Chairman and materials required
for preparing the meeting shall be sent by registered mail or delivered per-
sonally to directors with his confirmation of receipt at least ten days prior
to the date of the meeting.

8.31. The date of receipt of the voting ballot by the director shall be the date of the
cancellation stamp or the date of delivery of the document.

8.32. The voting ballot shall contain the following information:

8.32.1. Full legal name and location of the Company;

8.32.2. Wording of the issues offered for voting, and decisions on each
item of the agenda;

8.32.3. Voting options on each item: “for”, “against” “abstained”;

8.32.4. Information about the procedures for review, the materials and
information necessary for preparing the meeting, or the list of the
attached materials;
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8.33.

8.34.

8.35.

8.36.

8.37.

8.32.5. Postal address to which the mail-in ballots shall be sent; and
8.32.6. Deadline for accepting the ballots.

The date of receipt of the voting ballot by the director shall be the date of the
cancellation stamp or the date of delivery of the document.

Directors whose voting ballots were received on or before the established
deadline shall be considered to have participated in the voting.

The Corporate Secretary shall draft the minutes on the absentee voting re-
sults.

A report on the voting results shall be sent to the directors by registered
mail or delivered personally to directors with confirmation of receipt
within ___ days after the date of the minutes on voting results.

Written opinions shall not be taken into account for the purposes of estab-
lishing a quorum and the voting results when making decisions on the
approval of extraordinary and related party transactions.

Article 9. Minutes and Verbatim Reports

9.1.

9.2.

9.3.

IFC_part_6.indd 103

The Corporate Secretary shall prepare minutes of the Supervisory Board’s
meetings.

The minutes shall be made within three days after the meeting. The minutes
shall contain the following information:

9.2.1.  Full legal name and location of the Company;

9.2.2. Place (address) and time of the meeting;

9.2.3. Agenda of the meeting;

9.2.4. Persons attending the meeting and quorum;

9.2.5.  Directors who did not attend the meeting but submitted their writ-
ten opinions;

9.2.6. Issues put to vote and the voting results on an individual basis;

9.2.7. Decisions made;

9.2.8. ; and

9.2.9.

The minutes of the Supervisory Board meeting shall be signed by the
Chairman who shall be responsible for their accuracy, all directors who
participated in the meeting, and the Corporate Secretary.

@ 17.09.2004 11:24:16 ‘
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9.4. Written opinions of the directors shall be appended to the minutes.

9.5. The minutes on the results of absentee voting shall be made within three
days after the final date for acceptance of the ballots and shall be signed
by the Chairman and the Corporate Secretary. The minutes shall include
the following information:

9.5.1.  Issues put to absentee vote;
9.5.2.  Wording of decisions on each issue; and
9.5.3.  Voting results on each issue.

9.6. The Company shall provide the Supervisory Board’s minutes to the
Revision Commission, the External Auditor upon request, as well as
provide copies of such documents at the request of shareholders for
a fee that shall not exceed the cost of making and mailing of such
copies.

9.7.  The Company shall keep minutes of the Supervisory Board meetings at the
location of the executive body of the Company.

9.8.  The Corporate Secretary organizes verbatim reports of Supervisory Board
meetings.

Article 10. Committees

10.1. The Supervisory Board may establish ad hoc or permanent committees for
preliminary review and consideration of the most important issues within
the authority of the Supervisory Board.

10.2. The Company shall establish the following Supervisory Board commit-

tees!%:

10.2.1. 5
10.2.2. ; and
10.2.3.

10.3. Only directors may become committee mambers.

FCSM Code, Chapter 4 recommends establishing Strategic Planning, Nominations and
Remuneration, Corporate Conflicts, and Audit Committees. Other committees recognized
internationally include the Corporate Governance Committee and Ethics Committee.
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10.4.
10.5.

10.6.

10.7.

10.8.

The same director may not serve on more than ___ committees.'®

The committees may employ the services of experts and specialists. The
Supervisory Board shall determine the fees for the services of such experts
and specialists.

Committee meetings shall be convened by the chairman of the committee,
any committee member, or the Supervisory Board decision.

The results of the committee’s work shall be reflected in a written decision
signed by all members of the committee attending the meeting and submit-
ted to the Chairman.

Opinions of the committee shall be treated as recommendations only.
10.9. Further details are regulated in separate by-laws on committees.

Article 11. Duties and Liability

11.1.

Directors, while exercising their rights and performing their duties, shall:

11.1.1.

11.1.2.

11.1.3.

11.1.4.

11.1.5.

In all their decisions act reasonably, and in good faith, and in the
best interests of the Company and its shareholders. This means
careful consideration of all available information, and making care-
ful and balanced decisions that may be expected of a good director
in similar circumstances;

Actively take part in the meetings and work of the Supervisory
Board and the committees to which they have been elected;

Seek clarifications and ask questions on issues that are unclear or
not understandable;

Notify the Supervisory Board in advance of their inability to attend
the Supervisory Board meetings stating the reasons for such absence;
Act in accordance with the following conflicts of interests rules and
regulations:

11.1.5.1. Immediately inform the Chairman in writing about any
personal commercial or other interest (direct or indirect)
in the transactions, contracts, or projects involving the
Company, including intentions to enter into transactions

1% Best practice suggests to prohibit permitting any director to sit on more than three Supervisory
Board committees.
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with the securities of the Company in which they are
directors, or subsidiary (dependent) companies thereof,
as well as disclose information on any transactions made
by them with such securities in accordance with the pro-
cedures set forth in the Company’s by-laws;

11.1.5.2. Not accept from individuals or legal entities any gifts,
services, or benefits, which are, or may be, considered as
compensation for decisions or actions made by the direc-
tor in his official capacity, with the exception of sym-
bolic tokens of goodwill in accordance with the gener-
ally accepted norms of politeness or exchange of souvenirs
during official events;

11.1.5.3. Not disclose confidential, insider, and other official in-
formation that became known to him in the course of
performing his duties as a director, to persons who do not
have access to such information, nor use such information
in their own personal interests or in the interest of third
parties both during the term of their office and for the
period of ____ years after they leave the Company;

11.1.5.4. Act in compliance with all the rules and procedures set
forth by by-laws of the Company on ensuring security
and protection of the confidential information about the
Company;

11.1.6. Provide complete and accurate information on the business and
financial performance of the Company to the Supervisory Board;
and

11.1.7. Independent directors shall refrain from actions as a result of which
they would cease to be independent. If, as a result of a change in
circumstances, an independent director ceases to be independent, he
shall inform the Supervisory Board thereof in writing within

[period of time].

Directors shall be liable to the Company for losses incurred by the Com-
pany through their fault (omission) unless the law provides for other grounds
and scope of liability.
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11.3. Directors who voted against the decision that resulted in losses to the
Company, or did not participate in the voting shall not be liable for such
losses.

11.4. In determining the grounds for, and the amount of, director liability ordinary
business practices and other relevant circumstances shall be taken into ac-
count.

11.5. If several directors are liable under Clause 11.2. hereof, they shall be jointly
and severally liable to the Company.

11.6. In case the Company becomes insolvent (bankrupt) through fault of the
directors they may, in case of insufficiency of the Company’s assets, bear
subsidiary liability under the Company’s obligations.

11.7. Insolvency of the Company shall be deemed to have resulted from the ac-
tions of directors only if such persons exercised their right to give manda-
tory instructions or their power to direct the actions of the Company being
fully aware that such actions would result in the insolvency of the Com-

pany.

Article 12. Remuneration

12.1. Subject to the decision of the GMS, directors during the term of their office
shall receive compensation of expenses incurred by them in connection with
the performance of their duties as directors or Supervisory Board commit-
tee members, and remuneration.

12.2. Remuneration of the directors shall consist of:

12.2.1. A fixed annual remuneration;

12.2.2. A fixed fee upon meeting attendance;

12.2.3. Fees for additional work such as for work on Supervisory Board
committees; and

12.2.4. Additional fees for additional responsibilities such as for serving
as the Chairman of the Supervisory Board or one of its commit-
tees.

12.3. Executive directors do not receive additional fixed remuneration for their
directorship.
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12.4. Non-executive directors receive equal fixed remuneration.
12.5. Fixed remuneration shall be payable once a , provided the director
attended at least % of the Supervisory Board meetings.

Article 13. Evaluation

13.1. Performance of the Supervisory Board and each of its directors shall be
evaluated in accordance with the criteria developed by the Supervisory
Board [Nominations and Remuneration Committee].
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Article 1. General Provisions

1.1.  This By-law for the Audit Committee (hereinafter the By-law) of the Su-
pervisory Board of the Open Joint Stock Company « »
(hereinafter the Company) has been drafted in accordance with the laws of
the Russian Federation (hereinafter the Law), the charter of the Company
and other internal corporate documents, and relevant recommendations of
the Federal Commission for the Securities Market’s Code of Corporate
Conduct (hereinafter the FCSM Code).

1.2.  The By-law shall define the authority of the Supervisory Board’s Audit
Committee (hereinafter the Committee) and its members, and further, shall
define the rights and responsibilities of the Committee’s members, election,
composition, and dismissal of Committee members, meeting procedures, as
well as the remuneration of Committee members.

1.3.  The Committee has been established to assist the Supervisory Board in
performing its guidance and oversight functions effectively and effi-
ciently, and is specifically charged with ensuring the integrity of the
Company’s financial statements, internal control policies and procedures,
interacting with the External Auditor, and internal audit policies and
procedures.

1.4.  All proposals developed by the Committee are recommendations only and
thus non-binding to the Supervisory Board.
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Article 2. Authority

2.1.  The following issues shall fall within the authority of the Committee:
2.1.1.  As to financial accounting and reporting, to:

2.1.1.1. Provide assistance during the organization and preparation
of the Company’s financial statements and accounts, and
to ensure the veracity, transparency, and completeness of
the financial information disclosed by the Company;

2.1.1.2. Ensure compliance with the Company’s accounting poli-
cies and practices as applied in the Company’s financial
reports, and evaluate and rate such practices as either
aggressive, balanced and appropriate, or conservative;

2.1.1.3.  Identify and review significant accounting and reporting
issues, including any recent professional and regulatory
provisions from oversight authorities, and assess and
understand their impact on the financial reports of the
Company;

2.1.1.4. Opversee the periodic financial reporting process imple-
mented by management, and review the interim and
annual financial statements of the Company as well as
review preliminary announcements prior to their release
or publication;

2.1.1.5. Develop and make recommendations to the Revision
Commission regarding the Company’s overall accounting
policy, and specifically, develop recommendations for an
analysis of the Company’s financial reports and assess-
ments, and the results of any audits conducted; and

2.1.1.6. Develop and make recommendations to the Revision
Commission for the annual report prior to its approval
by the Supervisory Board of the Company, including the
full set of financial statements, including notes, and
management’s discussion and analysis.

2.1.2.  As to internal control and risk management, to:

2.1.2.1. Develop and review the major risks faced by the Com-
pany, including financial, operational, and legal risk, and
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the guidelines and policies which management has imple-
mented to govern the process of identifying, assessing,
treating, and periodically reviewing such exposures;

2.1.2.2. Develop recommendations regarding the development,
improvement, refinement, and expansion of a control
environment within the Company;

2.1.2.3.  Conduct assessments of the general efficiency of internal
control and risk management systems, including budget-
ing and staffing matters, as well as exercise control over
management’s compliance with the recommendations of
the Internal and External Auditors; and

2.1.2.4. Coordinate management’s efforts to ensure the security
of computer systems and applications, and develop and
coordinate contingency plans for processing financial
information in the event of a complete systems breakdown
or failure with the help of the Company’s IT staff.

2.1.3.  As to working and interacting with the External Auditor, to:

2.1.3.1.  Develop recommendations on the selection of an External
Auditor, including a review of that Auditor’s professional
qualifications and independence, the potential risk of
conflicts of interests, as well as the Auditor’s fees;

2.1.3.2. Conduct an annual review of the performance of the
External Auditors, and make recommendations to the
Supervisory Board on the appointment, reappointment,
or termination of the External Auditor’s contract;

2.1.3.3.  Work with the External Auditor to coordinate the scope,
plan, and procedures to be followed for the current year’s
audit taking into consideration both the Company’s pre-
sent circumstances and any applicable changes in legislation
and other regulatory requirements;

2.1.3.4.  Work to resolve any problems encountered in the normal
course of the External Auditor’s work, including any
restrictions on the scope of the audit or access to infor-
mation;

2.1.3.5. Discuss any significant findings or recommendations made
by the External Auditor and management’s proposed
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response thereto, as well as any other appropriate actions
to be taken based on such recommendations;

2.1.3.6. Conduct separate meetings with the External Auditor to
discuss any matters that the Committee or the Auditor
believes should be discussed privately, and ensure that the
Auditors have access to the Chairman of the Committee
when required;

2.1.3.7. Develop recommendations on the Company’s policy for
the assignment of non-audit tasks and services to be
provided by the External Auditor and, as need be, de-
velop a framework for the pre-approval of both audit and
non-audit services;

2.1.3.8. Review and discuss with the External Auditor any trans-
action involving the Company and a related party;

2.1.3.9. Develop recommendations regarding a policy for hiring
personnel from audit firms for senior positions in the
Company after they have left the audit firm; and

2.1.3.10. Consider whether it is appropriate to adopt a policy of
insisting upon the rotation of the External Auditor’s lead
audit partner or rotating the External Auditor on a peri-
odic basis.

As to the internal audits, to:

2.1.4.1. Conduct separate meetings with Revision Commission
members, and develop joint recommendations regard-
ing the significant issues and matters concerning the
Company’s financial and economic activities, and en-
sure that the chairman of the Revision Commission
has access to the Chairman of the Committee when
required;

2.1.4.2. Develop recommendations for the establishment and staff-
ing, as well as the budget and independence of an Internal
Auditor;

2.1.4.3. Conduct assessments of the Internal Auditor’s perfor-
mance, including the objectivity and authority of its
reporting obligations, the proposed audit plans for the
coming year, and the results of internal audits, and
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develop recommendations for improving its efficiency;
and

2.1.4.4. Review the internal audit reports and develop recom-
mendations for the Company’s internal audit plans, and
further, initiate and carry out both extraordinary and
specifically targeted audits.

2.1.5.  As to the legal framework and compliance, to:

2.1.5.1. Establish procedures for reviewing and handling com-
plaints or concerns received by the Company regarding
the internal control process, financial accounting and
reporting, or the external audit; and

2.1.5.2. Enable employees to submit concerns confidentially and
anonymously, and review the disclosure of any frauds
that involve management or other employees with sig-
nificant roles in internal control.

Article 3. Rights and Responsibilities

3.1. The Committee shall have the following rights:

3.1.1.  Request documents, reports, explanations, and other relevant in-
formation from the officers, executives, and employees of the
Company [including the Company’s strategy advisors];

3.1.2. Invite the Company’s officers, executives, and employees, as well
as the Company’s strategy advisors, to its meetings as observers to
question them, and seek explanations and clarifications;

3.1.3.  Utilize the services of outside consultants, experts, and advisers;

3.1.4. Perform special investigations as required, and utilize the services
of independent experts in doing so; and

3.1.5.  Perform any other duties required by the Supervisory Board
within the scope of the authority of the Committee as set forth
herein.

3.2. The Committee shall conduct an annual review and assessment of the By-
law in conformity with established requirements, and make recommendations
to the Supervisory Board regarding any amendments hereto it deems ap-
propriate.
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3.3. The Committee shall report to the Supervisory Board on a regular basis, but
not less that once every quarter. The Committee shall make such report to
the Supervisory Board as soon as feasible after every meeting.

3.4. Further, Committee members shall:

3.4.1. Participate in the activities and work of the Committee, and attend
all its meetings;

3.4.2. Treat all information that became known to them in the course
of performing their official duties as confidential informa-
tion;

3.4.3. Inform the Supervisory Board of any changes in their independent
status or any conflict of interest regarding decisions to be made by
the Committee; and

3.4.4. Conduct annual reviews and assessments of the Committee activi-
ties and its members, including a review of the Committee’s com-
pliance with the By-law.

Article 4. Election, Composition, and Dismissal

4.1. The Committee shall consist of __ members and shall be elected by a ma-
jority vote of all Supervisory Board members.

4.2.  The term of office of the Committee shall coincide with the term of office
for the Supervisory Board.

4.3.  Only Supervisory Board members may be elected members of the Commit-
tee.

4.4. Members of the Committee must possess the necessary knowledge and
experience in the areas of financial accounting and reporting, and skills in
interacting with the Company’s senior executives, External Auditor, and
other relevant parties.

4.5.  The Supervisory Board shall, whenever possible, elect only independent
directors to the Committee. If this is not feasible for whatever reason, the
Committee shall be chaired by an independent director and have at least
one other member who is an outside director.

4.6. The General Director, Executive Board members, and other executives may
not be members of the Committee.

4.7.  The Supervisory Board may, at any time, dismiss any member of the Com-
mittee, or re-elect the entire Committee.
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Article 5. Meeting Procedures

5.1.  The Committee shall be headed by a Chairman, who shall be elected by a
simple majority vote of the Committee’s members.

5.2. The Corporate Secretary of the Company shall act as the Secretary of
the Committee unless and until one of the Committee members is so
elected.

5.3.  Meetings shall be the principal form utilized for carrying out the work and
activities of the Committee.

5.4. Meetings may be conducted whenever and as often as necessary to prop-
erly carry out the Committee’s functions and duties in a timely manner.
However, at a minimum, the Committee should conduct not less than one
meeting every three month(s). If a meeting of the Supervisory Board is to
be conducted in which an issue within the Committee’s authority is at issue,
then a meeting of the Committee should be conducted no later than
days before such meeting of the Supervisory Board.

5.5.  Meetings may be called by the Chairman of the Committee, any member
of the Committee, or by decision of the Supervisory Board.

5.6. Additional meetings may be called at any time when necessary. The Sec-
retary shall be responsible for calling such meetings when requested by
either an Internal or External Auditor.

5.7.  Meetings may be conducted when the members are physically present or by
written consent of those members not physically able to attend and, further,
may be conducted in the form of either video- or audio-conferences.

5.8. A quorum shall be deemed present at any meeting of the Committee if at
least one-half of the Committee members are present.

5.9. The Secretary of the Committee shall be responsible for giving advance
notice to all of the Committee members of the meeting and its agenda, and
ensuring the availability of all necessary information regarding all of the
items included on such agenda not less than __ days prior to such meet-
ing.'” Additionally, the notice shall be given in any form deemed convenient
and agreed upon by the Committee members, e.g. by telephone, fax, ordi-
nary, or electronic mail.

5.10. The minutes of Committee meetings shall be signed by all members pres-
ent.

17 Good practice suggests two weeks.
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5.11. Upon the conclusion of discussions regarding any particular issue, the Com-
mittee shall draft a written opinion to be signed by all members of the
Committee, and such written opinion shall then be submitted to the Chair-
man of the Supervisory Board or the Corporate Secretary as required by
the Company’s internal documents. Any member of the Committee having
a dissenting opinion should submit such opinion together with the major-
ity opinion of the Committee.

5.12. The Committee shall make decisions by a majority vote of members par-
ticipating in the meeting.

Article 6. Remuneration

6.1  The procedures for paying, and the amount of any such remuneration, shall
be determined in accordance with the corresponding provisions of the By-
laws for the Supervisory Board.
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Article 1. General Provisions

1.1.  This By-law for the Corporate Governance Committee (hereinafter the By-

law) of the Supervisory Board of the Open Joint Stock Company

” (hereinafter the Company) has been drafted in accordance
with the laws of the Russian Federation (hereinafter the Law), the charter
of the Company and other internal corporate documents, and relevant
recommendations of the Federal Commission for the Securities Market’s
Code of Corporate Conduct (hereinafter the FCSM Code).

1.2.  The By-Law shall define the authority of the Supervisory Board’s Corporate
Governance Committee (hereinafter the Committee) and its members, and
further, shall define the rights and responsibilities of the Committee’s mem-
bers, election, composition, and dismissal of Committee members, meeting
procedures, as well as the remuneration of Committee members.

1.3.  The Committee has been established to assist the Supervisory Board in
performing its guidance and oversight functions effectively and efficiently,
and is specifically charged with the development of, compliance with, and
periodic review of the Company’s corporate governance policies and prac-
tices. The Committee further monitors and reviews policies concerning
shareholder rights, conflict resolution, ethics, disclosure and transparency,
evaluation, and the Company’s internal documents (organization and pro-
cess).

1.4.  All proposals developed by the Committee are recommendations and thus
non-binding to the Supervisory Board.
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Article 2. Authority

2.1.
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The following issues shall fall within the authority of the Committee:

2.1.1.

As to the Company’s corporate governance framework, to:

2.1.1.1.

2.1.1.2.

2.1.1.3.

2.1.1.4.

Develop and conduct periodic reviews of the Company’s
corporate governance documents, specifically, the Com-
pany’s charter and by-laws, with the purpose of ensuring
their compliance and conformity with the Law, as well as
national and international best practicies;

Develop a specific and clearly stated plan for the improve-
ment of corporate governance practices based on the
leading and most progressive Russian and international
practices, and further, conduct periodic reviews of the
plan and its implementation;

Develop the Company’s corporate governance compliance
program, including the corporate governance officer or
department responsible for developing and conducting
director induction and continuing education programs;
and

Ensure that the Company has an officer, e.g. the Corporate
Secretary, who shall be responsible for implementing the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices.

As to the working procedures (organization and process) within the
Company, to:

2.1.2.1.

2.1.2.2.

Develop recommendations for the appropriate preparation
and organization of the General Meeting of Shareholders
(hereinafter GMS) working in close cooperation with the
Company’s Corporate Secretary;

Ensure that the Supervisory Board is structured in such a
way so as to allow it to effectively handle any number of
complex issues. With this goal in mind, the Committee
shall make recommendations for the establishment of
other Supervisory Board committees as required, includ-
ing the type, authority, and composition of such commit-
tees; and
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2.1.2.3.  Develop procedures for the Supervisory Board, including
procedures for the preparation of meetings (including the
notification period, types, and forms of notice, and in-
formation and documentation to be provided), their or-
ganization (e.g. the frequency of conducting meetings and
the role of the Corporate Secretary), and their conclusion
(e.g. minutes and verbatim reports).

As to shareholder rights and conflict resolution, to:

2.1.3.1. Ensure that shareholder rights are appropriately and spe-
cifically defined in the Company’s charter, by-laws, and
company-level corporate governance code, and develop
policies and procedures for the protection of these rights;
and

2.1.3.2. Develop and periodically conduct reviews of the Compa-
ny’s conflict resolution policy and procedures.

As to ethics and corporate conduct, to:

2.1.4.1.  Assist the Supervisory Board and management in drafting
a code of ethics or company-level corporate governance
code;

2.1.4.2. Establish oversight and control procedures for detecting
and preventing violations of the Law, the Company’s
code of ethics, and any other internal ethical standards;
and

2.1.4.3. Conduct an annual review and update of the code of
ethics and policies concerning internal ethical standards.

As to the disclosure of financial information and issues of transpar-
ency, to:

2.1.5.1.  Work with the Supervisory Board’s Audit Committee to
develop policies and procedures for the disclosure of the
Company’s corporate governance practices, financial state-
ments, ownership structure, and remuneration policy for
directors, and other material information in the Compa-
ny’s annual and quarterly reports, corporate website, and
other relevant sources of information.
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2.1.6.

As to the assessment of the Supervisory Board’s activities, to:

2.1.6.1.

2.1.6.2.

2.1.6.3.

2.1.6.4.

2.1.6.5.

2.1.6.6.

Develop procedures for conducting an annual evaluation
of the Supervisory Board’s activities;

Conduct an annual evaluation of the Supervisory Board’s
performance utilizing an assessment of the Supervisory
Board itself (self-evaluation) or, alternatively, utilizing
third-party specialists to conduct such evaluation;
Report on the results of the self-evaluation to the Super-
visory Board, and facilitate a discussion of the findings
by the Supervisory Board during an out-of-office retreat,
a separate Board meeting or, at a minimum, as a separate
agenda item;

Develop recommendations for improving the Supervisory
Board’s performance based on the results of the self-evaluation
and any ensuing Supervisory Board discussions thereon;

If warranted, periodically organize professional training
events for Supervisory Board members specifically ad-
dressing areas that need improvement; and

Publish a summary of the findings and recommendations
in the Company’s annual report.

As to the individual evaluation of Supervisory Board members, to:

2.1.7.1.

2.1.7.2.

2.1.7.3.

Develop procedures and a set of criteria for conducting an
annual evaluation of individual Supervisory Board members
(directors) prior to any re-election of directors;

Assess the findings, and develop recommendations for
advising directors in areas that need improvement; and
Present the findings and recommendations to the share-
holders prior to the GMS.

As to director remuneration, to:

2.1.8.1.

Advise the Supervisory Board’s Nominations and Remu-
neration Committee in the development of policies for
the remuneration of directors, including the Chairman of
the Supervisory Board, that are consistent with leading
Russian and international practices.
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Article 3. Rights and Responsibilities
3.1. The Committee shall have the following rights:

3.1.1.  Request documents, reports, explanations, and other relevant in-
formation from the officers, executives, and employees of the
Company [including the Company’s strategy advisors];

3.1.2. Invite the Company’s officers, executives, and employees, as well
as the Company’s strategy advisors, to its meetings as observers to
question them, and seek explanations and clarifications;

3.1.3.  Utilize the services of outside consultants, experts, and advisers;

3.1.4. Perform special investigations as required, and utilize the services
of independent experts in doing so; and

3.1.5. Perform any other duties as may be required by the Supervisory
Board within the scope of authority of the Committee as set forth
herein.

3.2. The Committee shall conduct an annual review and assessment of the ade-
quacy of the By-law, and thereafter make such recommendations to the
Supervisory Board regarding any changes to the By-law deemed advisable
by the Committee.

3.3. The Committee shall report to the Supervisory Board on a regular basis,
but not less than once every six months. The Committee shall make such
report to the Supervisory Board as soon as feasible after every meeting.

3.4. Further, Committee members shall:

3.4.1.  Participate in the activities and work of the Committee, and attend
all its meetings;

3.4.2. Keep abreast of industry and market trends, advances in informa-
tion technology, and other areas of strategic importance to the
Company;

3.4.3. Treat as confidential all information that becomes known to them
in the course of performing their official duties;

3.44. Inform the Supervisory Board of any changes in their independent
status or any conflict of interest regarding decisions to be made by
the Committee; and

3.4.5. Annually review and evaluate the performance of the Committee
and its members, including a review of the Committee’s compliance
with the By-law.

124

IFC part 6.indd 124 @ 17.09.2004 11:24:18



®

Annex 8. A Model By-Law for the Corporate Governance Committee

Article 4. Election, Composition, and Dismissal

4.1.

4.2.

4.3.

4.4.

4.5.

4.6.

The Committee shall consist of __ members and shall be elected by a ma-
jority vote of all directors.

The term of office of the Committee shall coincide with the term of office
for the Supervisory Board.

Only Supervisory Board members may be elected members of the Com-
mittee.

Members of the Committee must have the necessary knowledge and expe-
rience in matters concerning corporate governance.

The Supervisory Board shall, wherever possible, elect only independent
directors to the Committee. If this is not feasible for whatever reason, the
Committee shall be chaired by an independent director and have at least
one other member who is an outside director.

The Supervisory Board may, at any time, dismiss any member of the Com-
mittee, or re-elect the entire Committee.

Article 5. Meeting Procedures

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

5.5.

5.6.
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The Committee shall be headed by a Chairman, who shall be elected by a
simple majority vote of the Committee’s members.

The Corporate Secretary of the Company shall act as the Secretary of
the Committee unless and until one of the Committee members is so
elected.

Meetings shall be the principal form utilized for carrying out the work and
activities of the Committee.

Meetings may be conducted whenever and as often as necessary to properly
carry out the Committee’s functions and duties in a timely manner. However,
at a minimum, the committee should conduct not less than one meeting every
six months. If a meeting of the Supervisory Board is to be conducted in which
an issue within the Committee’s authority is to be discussed, then a meeting of
the Committee should be conducted no later than ___ days before such meeting
of the Supervisory Board.

Meetings may be called by the Chairman of the Committee, any member
of the Committee, or by decision of the Supervisory Board.

Meetings may be conducted when members are physically in attendance, or
by written consent of those members not physically able to attend, and
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further, may be conducted in the form of either video- or audio-confer-
ences.

5.7. A quorum shall be deemed present at any meeting of the Committee if at
least one-half of its members are present at such meeting.

5.8.  The Secretary of the Committee shall be responsible for giving advance
notice to all of the Committee members of the meeting and its agenda at
least ___ [number] days prior to the meeting, and ensuring the availability
of all necessary information regarding all of the items included on the
agenda. Additionally, the notice shall be given in any form deemed con-
venient and agreed upon by the Committee members, e.g. by telephone,
fax, ordinary, or electronic mail.

5.9. The minutes of Committee meetings shall be signed by all members present.

5.10. Upon the conclusion of discussions regarding any particular issue, the Com-
mittee shall draft a written opinion to be signed by all members of the
Committee, and such written opinion shall be submitted to the Chairman
of the Supervisory Board or the Corporate Secretary in time for inclusion
on the agenda of the next Supervisory Board meeting. Any member of the
Committee having a dissenting opinion should submit such opinion with
the majority opinion of the Committee.

5.11. The Committee shall make decisions by a majority vote of members par-
ticipating in the meeting.

Article 6. Remuneration

6.1. The remuneration of Committee members is determined in accordance with
the requirements of the by-law on the Supervisory Board.
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Article 1. General Provisions

1.1.  This By-law for the Supervisory Board’s Nominations and Remuneration
Committee (hereinafter the By-law) of the Open Joint Stock Company
« » (hereinafter the Company) has been drafted
in accordance with the laws of the Russian Federation (hereinafter the
Law), the charter of the Company and other internal corporate docu-
ments, and relevant recommendations of the Federal Commission for the
Securities Market’s Code of Corporate Conduct (hereinafter the FCSM
Code).

1.2.  The By-law shall define the authority of the Supervisory Board’s Nomina-
tions and Remuneration Committee (hereinafter the Committee) and its
members, and, further, shall define the rights and responsibilities of the
Committee’s members, election, composition, and dismissal of Committee
members, meeting procedures, as well as the remuneration of Committee
members.

1.3.  The Committee has been established to assist the Supervisory Board in
performing its guidance and oversight functions effectively and efficiently,
and is specifically charged with identifying qualified senior executives and
directors, and ensuring that the Company’s remuneration policies and prac-
tices support the successful recruitment, development, and retention of
managers and directors, and thus help the Company realize its business
objectives and sustainable economic development.

1.4.  All proposals developed by the Committee are recommendations only and
thus non-binding to the Supervisory Board.
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Article 2. Authority

2.1.
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The following issues shall fall within the authority of the Committee:

2.1.1.

As to the nomination of directors and senior executives, to:

2.1.1.1.

2.1.1.2.

2.1.1.3.

2.1.1.4.

2.1.1.5.

2.1.1.6.

2.1.1.7.

2.1.1.8.

Develop recommendations for the Supervisory Board on
determining criteria for the selection of candidates for the
positions of General Director, Executive Board member,
and principal departmental head;

Conduct preliminary evaluations of the candidates for the
positions of General Director, Executive Board member,
and departmental head of other principal subdivisions
and units within the Company;

Develop position descriptions, terms of reference, terms
and conditions of employment contracts with the Gen-
eral Director, Executive Board members, and departmen-
tal heads of other principal subdivisions and units within
the Company;

Develop criteria and procedures for assessing the perfor-
mance of the General Director, Executive Board members,
and the departmental heads of other principal subdivisions
and units of the Company;

Develop criteria for determining a director’s independence
and the duty to keep shareholders informed as per the
directors’ independent status (or loss thereof);

Conduct periodic performance assessments of the activi-
ties of the General Director, Executive Board members,
and the departmental heads of the Company’s principal
subdivisions and units;

Organize training programs for senior managers regarding
issues of corporate governance and business ethics, [in
cooperation with the Corporate Governance Committee];
Develop instructions and an induction program for new-
ly-elected independent or outside directors, which contain
a detailed description of their duties as members of the
Supervisory Board, [in cooperation with the Supervisory
Board’s Corporate Governance Committee]; and
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2.1.1.9. Develop policies for planning and implementing the
smooth succession of employees in top managerial posi-
tions.

2.1.2.  As to the remuneration of directors and senior executives, to:

2.1.2.1. Develop a remuneration and incentive policy for the
Company’s directors and senior executives aimed at in-
creasing the value of the Company and based on the
principle of personal contribution of each director and
senior executive in implementing the strategic goals of the
Company, as well as on the Committee’s evaluation of
the individual’s performance versus goals and objectives
set by the Supervisory Board:

2.1.2.1.1. With respect to the remuneration of Supervi-
sory Board members, including the Chairman,
the Committee shall develop remuneration cri-
teria that allow the Company to offer com-
petitive terms without endangering the inde-
pendent status of its members; and

2.1.2.1.2. With respect to the remuneration of the Gen-
eral Director, Executive Board members, and
other senior executives, the Committee shall
set and periodically review criteria for the
(fixed) annual salary, the (variable) annual
bonus system based on key financial and non-
financial performance indicators, and a long-
term incentive system to align the interests of
the managers with those of the Company’s
shareholders, as well as benefits plans and
other perquisites;

2.1.2.2.  Continuously monitor the appropriateness of the Com-
pany’s remuneration criteria, based on the Company’s
development strategy, financial position, and major trends
in the labor market; and

2.1.2.3.  Exercise control over the enforcement of the decisions of
the General Meeting of Shareholders (GMS) as it concerns

130

IFC part 6.indd 130 @ 17.09.2004 11:24:19



®

Annex 9. A Model By-Law for the Nominations and Remuneration Committee

issues of remuneration of directors and senior executives.
Further, exercise control over the disclosure of informa-
tion on the remuneration of individual directors.

Article 3. Rights and Responsibilities

3.1. The Committee shall have the following rights:

3.1.1.  Request documents, reports, explanations, and other relevant in-
formation from the officers, executives, and employees of the
Company [including the Company’s strategy advisors];

3.1.2. Invite the Company’s officers, executives, and employees, as well
as the Company’s strategy advisors, to its meetings as observers to
question them, and seek explanations and clarifications;

3.1.3.  Utilize the services of outside consultants, experts, and advisers;
and

3.1.4.  Perform any other duties required by the Supervisory Board within
the scope of the authority of the Committee as set forth herein.

3.2. The Committee shall conduct an annual review and assessment of the By-
law in conformity with established requirements, and make recommendations
to the Supervisory Board regarding any amendments hereto it deems ap-
propriate.

3.3. The Committee shall report to the Supervisory Board on a regular basis, but
not less that once every six months. The Committee shall make such report
to the Supervisory Board as soon as feasible after every meeting.

3.4. Further, Committee members shall:

3.4.1. Participate in the activities and work of the Committee, and attend
all its meetings;

3.4.2.  Keep abreast of industry and market trends, advances in informa-
tion technology, and other areas of strategic importance to the
Company;

3.4.3. Treat all information that became known to them in the course of
performing their official duties as confidential information;

3.4.4. Inform the Supervisory Board of any changes in their independent
status or any conflict of interest regarding decisions to be made by
the Committee;
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3.4.5. Conduct annual reviews and assessments of the Committee activi-
ties and its members, including a review of the Committee’s com-
pliance with the By-law.

Article 4. Election, Composition, and Dismissal

4.1. The Committee shall consist of __ members and shall be elected by a ma-
jority vote of all directors.

4.2.  The term of office of the Committee shall coincide with the term of office
for the Supervisory Board.

4.3.  Only members of the Supervisory Board may be elected members of the
Committee.

4.4.  The Supervisory Board shall, whenever possible, elect only independent
directors to the Committee. If this is not feasible for whatever reason, the
Committee shall be chaired by an independent director and have at least
one other member who is an outside director.

4.5. The General Director and Executive Board members may not be members
of the Committee.

4.6. Members of the Committee must possess the necessary knowledge, experi-
ence, and skills in interacting with the company’s key executives and other
relevant parties.

4.7.  The Supervisory Board may, at any time, dismiss any member of the Com-
mittee, or re-elect the entire Committee.

Article 5. Meeting Procedures

5.1.  The Committee shall be headed by a Chairman who shall be elected by a
simple majority vote of the Committee’s members.

5.2. The Corporate Secretary of the Company shall act as the Secretary of the
Committee unless and until one of the members of the Committee is so
elected.

5.3.  Meetings shall be the principal form utilized for carrying out the work and
activities of the Committee.

5.4. Meetings may be conducted whenever and as often as necessary to prop-
erly carry out the Committee’s functions and duties in a timely manner.
However, at a minimum, the committee should conduct one meeting every
six months. If a meeting of the Supervisory Board is to be conducted in
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5.5.

5.6.

5.7.

5.8.

5.9.

5.10.

5.11.

which the Committee’s authority is at issue, then a meeting of the Com-
mittee should be conducted no later than ____ days before such meeting
of the Board.

Meetings may be called by the Chairman of the Committee, any member
of the Committee, or by decision of the Supervisory Board.

Meetings may be conducted when the members are physically present or by
written consent of those members not physically able to attend and, further,
may be conducted in the form of either video- or audio-conferences.

A quorum shall be deemed present at any meeting of the Committee if at
least one-half of the Committee members are present.

The Secretary of the Committee shall be responsible for giving advance notice
to all of the Committee members of the meeting and its agenda, and ensure
the availability of all necessary information regarding all of the items in-
cluded on such agenda not less than ___ days prior to such meeting. Such
notice shall be given in any form deemed convenient and agreed upon by the
Committee members, e.g. by telephone, fax, ordinary, or electronic mail.
The minutes of every Committee meeting shall be signed by all members
present.

Upon the conclusion of discussions regarding any particular issue, the Com-
mittee shall draft a written opinion to be signed by all members of the
Committee, and such written opinion shall then be submitted to the Chair-
man of the Supervisory Board or the Corporate Secretary as required by
the Company’s internal documents. Any member of the Committee having
a dissenting opinion should submit such opinion together with the major-
ity opinion of the Committee.

The Committee shall make decisions by a majority vote of those members
participating in the meeting.

Article 6. Remuneration

6.1.
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The procedures for paying the Committee members and the amount of any
such remuneration shall be determined in accordance with the correspond-
ing provisions of the By-laws on the Supervisory Board.
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Article 1. General Provisions

1.1.  This By-law for the Strategic Planning and Finance Committee (hereinaf-
ter the By-law) of the Supervisory Board of the Open Joint Stock Com-
pany « » (hereinafter the Company) has been
drafted in accordance with the laws of the Russian Federation (hereinaf-
ter the Law), the charter of the Company and other internal corporate
documents, and relevant recommendations of the Federal Commission for
the Securities Market’s Code of Corporate Conduct (hereinafter the FCSM
Code).

1.2.  The By-law shall define the authority of the Supervisory Board’s Strategic
Planning and Finance Committee (hereinafter the Committee) and its mem-
bers, and, further, shall define the rights and responsibilities of the Com-
mittee’s members, election, composition, and dismissal of Committee
members, meeting procedures, as well as the remuneration of Committee
members.

1.3.  The Committee has been established to assist the Supervisory Board in
performing its oversight functions effectively and efficiently, and is spe-
cifically charged with defining the Company’s strategic objectives, determin-
ing its financial and operational priorities, making recommendations regard-
ing the Company’s dividend policy, and evaluating the long-term productiv-
ity of the Company’s operations.
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1.4.

All proposals developed by the Committee are recommendations only and
thus non-binding to the Supervisory Board.

Article 2. Authority

2.1.
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The following issues shall fall within the authority of the Committee:

2.1.1.

As to the Company’s strategy and objectives, to:

2.1.1.1.

2.1.1.2.

2.1.1.3.

2.1.1.4.

2.1.1.5.

2.1.1.6.

Guide the Company’s General Director [and the Executive
Board] in setting the Company’s mission, goals, and ob-
jectives;

Guide the Company’s General Director [and the Executive
Board] in setting the Company’s strategic plan and busi-
ness objectives, conduct reviews of said strategic plan and
business objectives, and make recommendations to the
Supervisory Board as appropriate;

Develop and conduct reviews of the Company’s strate-
gic planning processes and procedures in close coop-
eration with the Company’s General Director [and the
Executive Board], and develop a policy statement de-
scribing the Board’s involvement in the strategic planning
process;

Ensure that the Company’s strategic plans are transformed
into concrete actions aimed at achieving the Company’s
objectives;

Review the General Director’s and the Executive Board’s
recommendations for the allocation of resources to veri-
fy their consistency with the Company’s strategic plans
and long-term business objectives; and

Periodically review the Company’s [and its subsidiaries’]
strategic plan and business objectives to ensure alignment
with the Company’s mission, goals, and objectives.

As to the Company’s operational priorities, to:

2.1.2.1.

Review and make recommendations to the Supervisory
Board as to certain strategic decisions regarding opera-
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tional priorities, including expanding into new, or exiting
from existing business markets or countries.

2.1.3.  As to the Company’s financial planning and dividend policy, to:

2.1.3.1. Review and make recommendations to the Supervisory
Board with respect to the Company’s annual and long-
term financial strategies and objectives, as well as any
related performance goals and key performance indica-
tors;

2.1.3.2. Review significant financial matters of the Company and
its subsidiaries, including matters relating to the Compa-
ny’s capitalization, its credit ratings, cash flows, borrowing
activities, and investment of surplus funds, while working
in close cooperation with the Company’s management
and, particularly, with the Supervisory Board’s Audit
Committee;

2.1.3.3. Review and make recommendations to the Supervisory
Board with respect to the Company’s debt or securities
offerings, the purchase or disposal of treasury shares,
stock splits or share reclassifications, and any capital
transactions or other project expenditures equal to or
greater than RUR million, and any other financial
transactions, such as an investment in a subsidiary or
other venture, or an asset disposal equal to or greater than
RUR _ million;

2.1.3.4. Review and make recommendations to the Supervisory
Board with respect to the Company’s dividend policy and
practices; and

2.1.3.5. Periodically review actual capital expenditures and
performance against previously approved budgeted
amounts.

2.1.4.  As to the evaluation of long-term productivity and operational ef-
ficiency, to:

2.1.4.1. Review and make recommendations to the Supervisory
Board as to certain strategic decisions regarding the expan-
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2.1.5.

sion into or exit from new technologies, and any other
opportunities to improve the scope and scale, cost effec-
tiveness, and quality of products and services provided
by the Company when the amount involved is equal to
or greater than RUR million.

As to the oversight of the Company’s reorganization plans, to:

2.1.5.1. Review and make recommendations to the Supervisory
Board as to certain strategic decisions regarding the con-
solidation, merger, split-up, transformation, or spin-off/
divestiture of the Company.

Article 3. Rights and Responsibilities

3.1.

3.2

3.3.
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The Committee shall have the following rights:

3.1.1.

3.1.4.

Request documents, reports, explanations, and other relevant in-
formation from the officers, executives, and employees of the
Company [including the Company’s strategy advisors];

Invite the Company’s officers, executives, and employees, as well
as the Company’s strategy advisors, to its meetings as observers to
question them, and seek explanations and clarifications;

Utilize the services of outside consultants, experts, and advisers;
and

Perform any other duties as may be required by the Supervisory
Board within the scope of authority of the Committee as set forth
herein.

The Committee shall conduct an annual review and assessment of the ad-
equacy of the By-law and thereafter make such recommendations to the
Supervisory Board and its Corporate Governance Committee regarding any
changes to the By-law deemed advisable by the Committee.

The Committee shall report to the Supervisory Board on a regular basis,
but not less than once every six months. The Committee shall make
such report to the Supervisory Board as soon as feasible after every
meeting.

139

17.09.2004 11:24:20 ‘



®

The Russia Corporate Governance Manual

3.4. Further, Committee members shall:

3.4.1. Participate in the activities and work of the Committee, and attend
all its meetings;

3.4.2.  Keep abreast of industry and market trends, advances in informa-
tion technology, and other areas of strategic importance to the
Company;

3.4.3. Treat as confidential all information that becomes known to them
in the course of performing their official duties;

3.4.4. Inform the Supervisory Board of any changes in their independent
status or any conflict of interest regarding decisions to be made by
the Committee; and

3.4.5. Annually review and evaluate the performance of the Committee
and its members, including a review of the Committee’s compliance
with the By-law.

Article 4. Election, Composition and Dismissal

4.1. The Committee shall consist of ___ members and shall be elected by a
majority vote of all directors.

4.2.  The term of office of the Committee shall coincide with the term of office
for the Supervisory Board.

4.3.  Only Supervisory Board members may be elected members of the Committee.

4.4. Members of the Committee must have the necessary knowledge and expe-
rience in matters concerning the Company’s industry, trends, and fi-
nance.

4.5. The Supervisory Board shall, wherever possible, elect an independent direc-
tor to chair the Committee. If this is not feasible for whatever reason, the
Committee shall be chaired by a non-executive director and have at least
one independent member.

4.6. The Supervisory Board may, at any time, dismiss any member of the Com-
mittee, or re-elect the entire Committee.

Article 5. Meeting Procedures

5.1.  The Committee shall be headed by a Chairman, who shall be elected by a
simple majority vote of the Committee’s members.
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5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

5.5.

5.6.

5.7.

5.8.

5.9.

5.10.
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The Corporate Secretary of the Company shall act as the Secretary of
the Committee unless and until one of the Committee members is so
elected.

Meetings shall be the principal form utilized for carrying out the work and
activities of the Committee.

Meetings may be conducted whenever and as often as necessary to prop-
erly carry out the Committee’s functions and duties in a timely manner.
However, at a minimum, the committee should conduct not less than one
meeting every six months. If a meeting of the Supervisory Board is to be
conducted in which the Committee’s authority is at issue, then a meeting
of the Committee should be conducted no later than __ days before such
meeting of the Board.

Meetings may be called by the Chairman of the Committee, any member
of the Committee, or by decision of the Supervisory Board.

Meetings may be conducted when members are physically in attendance, or
by written consent of those members not physically able to attend and,
further, may be conducted in the form of either video- or audio-confer-
ences.

A quorum shall be deemed present at any meeting of the Committee if at
least one-half of its members are present at such meeting.

The Secretary of the Committee shall be responsible for giving advance
notice to all of the Committee members of the meeting and its agenda at
least ___ (number) days prior to the meeting, and ensure the availability of
all necessary information regarding all of the items included on the agenda.
Additionally, the notice shall be given in any form deemed convenient and
agreed upon by the Committee members, e.g. by telephone, fax, ordinary,
or electronic mail.

The minutes of every Committee meeting shall be signed by all members
present.

Upon the conclusion of discussions regarding any particular issue, the Com-
mittee shall draft a written opinion to be signed by all members of the
Committee, and such written opinion shall be submitted to the Chairman
of the Supervisory Board or the Corporate Secretary in time for inclusion
on the agenda of the next Supervisory Board meeting. Any member of the
Committee having a dissenting opinion should submit such opinion with
the majority opinion of the Committee.
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5.11. The Committee shall make decisions by a majority vote of the members
participating in the meeting.

Article 6. Remuneration

6.1.  The procedures for paying and the amount of any such remuneration shall
be determined in accordance with the corresponding provisions of the By-
laws on the Supervisory Board.
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of the Open Joint Stock Company « »

Minutes of the [Annual or Extraordinary]
General Meeting of Shareholders
No.

of 200_
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[The Company’s Seal]
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Article 1. General Provisions

1.1.  This By-law for the Executive Bodies (hereinafter the By-law) of the Open
Joint Stock Company « » (hereinafter the Com-
pany) has been developed in accordance with the laws of the Russian Fed-
eration (hereinafter the Law), the Company charter, and the recommenda-
tions of the Federal Commission for the Securities Market’s Code of
Corporate Conduct (hereinafter the FCSM Code).

1.2.  The Company shall establish the following executive bodies:

1.2.1.  The General Director; and
1.2.2.  The Executive Board.

1.3.  The By-law shall determine the status and authority of the General Direc-
tor and the Executive Board, as well as procedures for their election and
dismissal, meeting procedures, duties and responsibilities, and remune-
ration.

1.4. The General Director and Executive Board members shall act in accordance
with the Law, the Company charter, the By-law, and other internal docu-
ments of the Company.
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1.5.

1.6.

The executive bodies are accountable to the Supervisory Board and the
General Meeting of Shareholders (hereinafter the GMS). The executive
bodies shall be responsible for executing the decisions of the GMS and the
Supervisory Board.

All decisions taken by the GMS and Supervisory Board shall be binding
upon the General Director and the Executive Board.

Article 2. Status of the General Director

2.1.
2.2.

2.3.

2.4.

2.5.

2.6.

2.7.

The General Director shall be a single-member executive body of the Company.
The General Director shall at the same time be the Chairman of the Execu-
tive Board.

The General Director may not at the same time be the Chairman of the
Supervisory Board, a Revision Commission member, or the Corporate Sec-
retary of the Company,'® or a participant (shareholder), officer, or other
employee of a legal entity competing with the Company.

The General Director may not be involved in any other commercial activity apart
from managing the day-to-day operations of the Company, with the exception
of membership in the Supervisory Board and, subject to the approval of the
Supervisory Board, directorship in other legal entities provided this is required
in the interests of the Company.

Upon the recommendation of the Supervisory Board, the GMS may delegate
the powers of the General Director to an External Manager.

The relations between the General Director and the Company shall be
regulated by an employment contract to be signed on behalf of the Com-
pany by the Chairman of the Supervisory Board.

The General Director shall refrain from actions that may result in a conflict
of interest between himself and the Company, and, if a conflict of interest
arises, the General Director shall immediately inform the Supervisory Board
and the Corporate Secretary thereof.

Article 3. The Authority of the General Director

3.1.
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The General Director shall manage the day-to-day operations of the Com-
pany with the exception of issues that fall within the sole competence of
the GMS or the Supervisory Board, and shall ensure the execution of deci-
sions of the GMS and the Supervisory Board.

1% If the Company has established a position of the Corporate Secretary.

145

17.09.2004 11:24:20 ‘



®

The Russia Corporate Governance Manual

3.2.  Beginning with his term of office, the General Director shall have the right
to sign official documents, issue orders and instructions, effectuate transac-
tions and sign contracts on behalf of the Company, subject to the Law and
the Company Charter.

3.3. The General Director shall:

3.3.1.  Act on behalf of the Company without a power of attorney, includ-
ing representing the interests of the Company;

3.3.2.  Open settlement accounts with banking and credit institutions;

3.3.3.  Dispose of the Company’s assets to ensure its current operations,
subject to the provisions of the charter;

3.3.4.  Guide, oversee, and manage the performance of the Company’s
employees, within the scope of his authority;

3.3.5.  Grant powers of attorney to perform actions on behalf of the Company;

3.3.6. Make decisions on filing complaints and claims against legal entities
and individuals on behalf of the Companys;

3.3.7.  Approve staffing structures, enter into, and terminate employment
contracts with the employees of the Company, and offer incentives
to and sanction the employees of the Company;

3.3.8. Sign employment contracts with the heads of representative of-
fices and branches on the terms and conditions set forth by the
Executive Board, not later than __ business days after their appoint-
ment;'”

3.3.9.  Supervise the work of the Executive Board, call its meetings, set its
agenda, and preside over its meetings;

3.3.10. Organize and implement the proper keeping of accounting records
and financial reports of the Company;

3.3.11. Implement risk management and internal control;

3.3.12. Organize the timely filing of financial statements with the relevant
authorities, as well as the disclosure of information about the Com-
pany to shareholders, creditors, and the markets;

3.3.13. Sign the financial statements of the Company;

3.3.14. Provide information on the Executive Board’s agenda items, as well
as on his own actions and decisions, to the Supervisory Board [and
its committees], External Auditor, Revision Commission and, where
necessary, the Corporate Secretary of the Company in a timely
manner;

19 Good practice suggests that this be five business days.
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3.3.15. Represent and explain the position of the executive bodies at the
GMS and Supervisory Board meetings;

3.3.16. Provide reports on the work of the executive body to the Supervi-
sory Board once every __ weeks, including on the Company’s key
performance indicators;'!

3.3.17. Provide a report on the General Director’s work to the GMS at least
once a year;

3.3.18. Sign the securities prospectuses;

3.3.19. ;

3.3.20. ;

3.3.21. Perform other functions that may be necessary to ensure normal
operations of the Company under the Law and subject to the pro-
visions of the employment contract with the Company.

Article 4. Appointment and Termination Procedures for the General Director

4.1.

4.2.
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Any person may be appoined as the General Director in accordance with
procedures set forth by the Law and the By-law.'"!

A candidate for the position of the General Director must possess the fol-
lowing qualifications:'?

4.2.1. 5
4.2.2. ; and
4.2.3.

Good practice suggests that this be done for every Supervisory Board meeting.

The FCSM Code, Chapter 4, Section 2.1.1 recommends that the specific requirements with
respect to the General Director and Executive Board member be set forth in the charter or
by-laws of the company.

For example, __ years of professional experience in the sector or industry; higher education;
special knowledge and skills, for example in finance and accounting, engineering, or law:
personal qualities, such as integrity and team orientation; and useful contacts. More generally,
Executive Board members and the General Director specifically should: (i) enjoy the trust
of shareholders, directors, other managers and employees of the company; (ii) own the ability
to relate to the interests of all stakeholders and to make well-reasoned decisions; (iii) possess
the professional expertise and education to be an effective General Director and/or Executive
Board member; (iv) possess (international) business experience, knowledge of national
economic, political, legal, and social issues, as well as trends and knowledge of the market,
products, and competitors (national as well as international); and (v) have the ability to
translate knowledge and experience into practical solutions that can be applied to the
company.
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4.3.  The General Director shall be appointed by a */,-majority vote of the Su-
pervisory Board for a term of __ year(s).'”

4.4. The terms of the employment contract with the General Director shall be
determined by the Supervisory Board subject to the Law.

4.5. The employment contract with the appointed General Director shall be
signed by the Chairman of the Supervisory Board within __ days after the
execution of the minutes of the Supervisory Board meeting.

4.6. The Supervisory Board may at any time terminate the powers of the Gen-
eral Director and appoint a new General Director by a */,-majority vote of
all directors.

Article 5. Status of the Executive Board

5.1.  The Executive Board shall be the collective executive body of the Company
and shall, under the leadership of the General Director, manage the day-to-
day operations of the Company and ensure practical implementation of the
decisions of the GMS and the Supervisory Board.

5.2.  The General Director shall be the Chairman of the Executive Board.

5.3. The Executive Board shall have the following members:'!*

5.3.1. The Chairman of the Executive Board — the General Director;
5.3.2.  The Deputy General Director;

5.3.3. 5
5.3.4. ; and
5.3.5.

13 The term of office of the single member executive body is determined by the Company’s

charter in accordance with the law. Good practice suggests an initial term of one year,
followed by three year terms.

4 A Russian company’s Executive Board will typically consist of the General Director, and

between five and seven other members, possibly the Chief Operating Officer; Chief Accountant,
Chief Financial Officer; Chief Legal Counsel; Marketing Director; Head of Sales; Head of
Purchasing; Head of Research and Development; Head of Information Technology; Head of
Public/Investor Relations; Heads of Business/Product Lines; Human Resources Director; and
the General Director of a dependent company or subsidiary. Executive Boards will however
need to be adapted to the circumstances of the company and, consequently, should be
composed differently.
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5.4. Relations between Executive Board members and the Company are regu-
lated by employment contracts to be signed by the Chairman of the Super-
visory Board on behalf of the Company.

5.5. Members of the Executive Board shall refrain from actions that may po-
tentially give rise to conflicts of interests between themselves and the Com-
pany and, in case such conflicts of interests arise, immediately inform the
Supervisory Board and the Corporate Secretary thereof.

Article 6. The Authority of the Executive Board

6.1. The Executive Board shall have the right to make decisions on the:

6.1.1.

6.1.2.

6.1.6.

Development of the preliminary strategic direction of the company,
which it shall submit for Supervisory Board approval;
Development of financial and business plans, based on the strate-
gic direction of the company and the Supervisory Board’s ap-
proval;

Approval of the Executive Board’s organizational structure (includ-
ing committees), composition and status of departments, and
functional divisions of the Company, upon the recommendation
of the General Director;

Approval of internal corporate documents on issues that fall within
the competence of the Executive Board, including by-laws regulat-
ing incentive schemes and sanctions, as well as working schedules,
and job descriptions or terms of references for all categories of the
Company’s employees;

Approval of transactions, the total value of which is __ or more
percent of the total book value of the Company’s assets, subject to
immediate Supervisory Board notification;''

Approval of any transactions with fixed assets and loans, un-
less such transactions fall under the ordinary course of business
or fall under the competence of the Supervisory Board or
GMS;

115 FCSM Code, Chapter 4, Section 1.1.3. recommends that transactions with the total value exceeding
5% of the book value of company assets be subject to Executive Board approval.
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6.1.7.  Approval of any transactions with fixed assets and receiving loans,
unless such transactions fall under the ordinary course of business
or fall under the competence of the Supervisory Board or GMS,
and the total value of is __ or more percent of the total book
value of the Company’s assets;'°

6.1.8.  Preliminary approval of mergers or consolidations in the course of
reorganizing the Company;

6.1.9.  Signing of collective bargaining agreements;

6.1.10. Remuneration, and principal terms and conditions of employment
contracts concluded with middle management;'"”

6.1.11. Organizational, technical, and financial support for the GMS and
the Company’s other bodies, including the Supervisory Board and
Revision Commission;

6.1.12. Appointment of the Company’s heads of branches and representa-
tive offices;

6.1.13. Agenda items of the GMS of subsidiaries in which the Company
is the sole shareholder;''®

6.1.14. Appointment of persons to represent the Company at the GMS of
subsidiaries in which the Company is the sole shareholder and
provide them with voting instructions;

6.1.15. Nomination of candidates for the position of General Director,
External Manager, Executive Board member, Supervisory Board
member, as well as candidates to other governing bodies of orga-
nizations in which the Company has a stake;'”

6.1.16. ; and

6.1.17.

¢ Good practice suggests that the total value not exceed five or more percent of the total book
value of the company’s assets.

17 FCSM Code, Chapter 4, Section 1.1.5.

118 With the exception of cases in which such decisions fall within the competence of the
Supervisory Board.

119 FCSM Code, Chapter 4, Section 1.1.4. recommends that decisions on these issues be made by
the Executive Board.
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6.2.

The Executive Board shall have the right to make decisions on other
operational issues, with the exception of issues that under the Law and
the charter fall within the exclusive authority of the Company’s other
governing bodies.

Article 7. Appointment and Termination Procedures for Executive Board

7.1.

7.2.

7.3.

7.4.

7.5.
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Members

All members of the Executive Board shall be appointed by the Supervisory
Board upon the recommendation of the General Director by a */,-majority
vote of the Supervisory Board for a term of __ year(s).'®

A candidate for the Executive Board must possess the following qualifica-
tions:'*!

7.2.1. 5
7.2.2. ; and
7.2.3.

The contract with the newly appointed Executive Board members shall
be signed by the Chairman of the Supervisory Board within ___ days
following the signing of the relevant Supervisory Board meeting’s min-
utes.

[Should the newly appointed Executive Board member be an employee of
the Company with a regular open-ended employment contract, he shall sign
an additional term contract with the Company in his capacity as an Execu-
tive Board member.]

The Supervisory Board may dismiss any Executive Board member at any
time, and appoint a new Executive Board member prior to the expiry of
the Executive Board’s term of office by a */,-majority vote of all direc-
tors.

Good practice suggests an initial term of one year, followed by three year terms.

For example, professional experience, education, special knowledge and skills, personal qualities,
and useful contacts.
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Article 8. Executive Board Meetings

8.1. The Executive Board shall meet as needed, but at least __ times a month.'*

8.2.  Executive Board meetings shall be called by the General Director on his own
initiative, as well as on the initiative of Executive Board members or the
Supervisory Board.

8.3.  The General Director shall set the agenda of Executive Board meetings,'*
send notice and relevant materials to its members, and preside over meet-
ings.

8.4. Executive Board members shall have the right to propose items to the meet-
ing agenda.

8.5. The quorum for Executive Board meetings shall be not less than __ of all
Executive Board members.

8.6.  Decisions made during Executive Board meetings shall be made by a majority
of __ votes of the Executive Board members participating in the meeting.

8.7.  The transfer of an Executive Board member’s vote to another person, in-
cluding another Executive Board member, shall not be allowed.

8.8.  The Chairman of the Executive Board shall ensure that meeting minutes are
prepared, and copies thereof sent to the Supervisory Board, the Revision
Commission, and the External Auditor within __ days following the Exe-
cutive Board meeting.

8.9. The minutes of the Executive Board meetings shall be signed by the Gen-
eral Director in his capacity as Chairman and Executive Board members
attending the meeting. The minutes shall contain:

8.9.1.  The location and time of the meeting,

8.9.2. The names of the persons present at the meeting;
8.9.3. The agenda of the meeting;

8.9.4. The results of voting on an individual basis;
8.9.5. Decisions made by the Executive Board; and
8.9.6. The rationale for the decisions.

12 FCSM Code, Chapter 4, Section 4.1.1 recommends to have scheduled Executive Board meetings
not less than once a week.

122 FCSM Code, Chapter 4, Section 4.1.3 recommends to send the agenda of the upcoming
Executive Board meetings to every Executive Board member.

152

IFC part 6.indd 152 @ 17.09.2004 11:24:21



®

Annex 11. A Model By-Law for the Executive Bodies

Article 9. Duties and Liability

9.1.  The General Director and Executive Board members shall act in good faith,
with diligence and due care, and in the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders.

9.2. The General Director and Executive Board members are prohibited from:

9.2.1. Participating in a competing company;

9.2.2.  Entering into any transactio